USING COVER CROPS IN WHEAT-CORN ROTATIONS TO PROVIDE FORAGE WHILE IMPROVING SOIL

By

Sabra Lynn Gerdes

A THESIS

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Crop and Soil Sciences–Master of Science

ABSTRACT

USING COVER CROPS IN WHEAT-CORN ROTATIONS TO PROVIDE FORAGE WHILE IMPROVING SOIL

By

Sabra Lynn Gerdes

The time window after wheat harvest in a wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)- corn (*Zea mays* L.) rotation could be used to grow cover crops (CC) to provide forage while protecting soil from erosion. Field experiments were initiated in East Lansing, MI to determine the consequences of partial removal of CC biomass on soil improvement and crop yield and quality. Soft red winter wheat ('Hopewell' and 'Red Dragon') was planted in October of 2013 and 2014 and harvested in July 2014 and 2015. Cover crops included: frost-seeded red clover, and summer-seeded alfalfa, cowpea, sunn hemp, radish, oat/field pea mixture, sudangrass, sorghum x sudangrass, and teffgrass. Half of each CC plot was mechanically harvested eight weeks after planting. Harvested forage dry matter yield was greatest for red clover (4.3 Mg ha⁻¹); oat-pea mix (2.5 Mg ha⁻¹), sudangrass/sudex (1.8 Mg ha⁻¹) and radish (1.2 Mg ha⁻¹) (P < 0.01) yielded less. Corn grain yield harvested in October averaged 13.7 Mg ha⁻¹ and did not differ across CC species or forage harvest treatment (P > 0.05). Harvesting forage reduced total N removal (TNR) in subsequent corn for red clover only; harvesting forage did not affect TNR after any other CC (CC x harvest interaction, P < 0.05). In the harvested system, TNR did not differ (P > 0.05) between for any CC, but unharvested RCL (374 kg N ha⁻¹) had greater (P < 0.01) TNR than oat-pea mix (338 kg N ha⁻¹). There were no differences among treatments for soil permanganate oxidizable carbon POXC (P > 0.05). Harvesting cover crops for forage after winter wheat harvest in Michigan can give harvestable forage and acceptable nutritive value.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Kimberly Cassida for all her guidance, time and help throughout this project. I am very grateful to the members of my committee for their advice and time—Dr. Christina DiFonzo, Dr. Sieglinde Snapp, and Dr. Karen Renner.

Gratitude is also expressed to the Michigan State University Agronomy Farm managers and technicians for the use of all of their equipment and advice. Joe Paling, this project could not have been completed without your help and expertise, thank you. Thank you to the forage lab group at MSU for all their help on all the aspects of this project.

A very special thank you to Dr. Jennifer MacAdam for giving me support and encouraging me to pursue a Master's degree at Michigan State University.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my family and especially would like to acknowledge my Father and Mother, Brent and Holly Gerdes. I wouldn't be where I am today without their love, support, and inspiration. They have always encouraged me to achieve my dreams. Little did they know that I would be following in their footsteps.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
CHAPTER 1	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	1
Crop Rotations	1
Decline of Crop Rotations	2
Benefits of Crop Rotations	3
Cover Crops	5
Cover Crop Groups and Niches	7
Negative Impacts of Cover Crops	9
Cover Crops as Forage	10
History of Forage Crops	10
Forage Quality and Groups	11
Negative Impacts of Forages	14
Potential Double Crops in Michigan and the Upper Midwest	15
Why Cover Crops as Forages?	17
BIBLIOGRAPHY	19
CHAPTER 2 USING COVER CROPS IN WHEAT-CORN ROTATIONS TO PROVIDE FOR A IMPROVING SOIL	
ABSTRACT	
INTODUCTION	32
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Site Description	
Experimental Design	36
Crop Management	37
Measurements	
Statistical Analysis	42
RESULTS	44
Weather	44
Wheat Performance	44
Botanical Composition	44
Ground Cover	45
Plant Canopy Height	47
Harvested Forage Yield, Nutritive Value, and C, N Content	
Corn Performance	
Soil Assessment	50
DISCUSSION	51
CONCLUSIONS	65

APPENDICES	67
APPENDIX A Results	68
APPENDIX B ANOVA Tables for Figures	80
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Variety and pure live seeding rates for cover crops grown after wheat harvest at East Lansing, MI. in 2014 and 2015
Table 2. Nutritive value and carbon and nitrogen concentration and ratio of forage in cover crops harvested eight weeks after seeding following July 2014 and 2015 wheat harvest at East Lansing, MI.
Table 3. ANOVA results and planned contrasts for corn grain and stover yields after cover crops were harvested or not harvested the previous October 2014 and 2015 at East Lansing, MI.
Table 4. Nitrogen concentration, carbon/nitrogen ratio, and total nitrogen removed in V-12 stagecorn ear leaves, grain and stover harvested after cover crops were harvested or notharvested the previous October 2014 and 2015 at East Lansing, MI
Table A1. ANOVA table for cover evaluations taken bi-weekly from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest approximately, (A) eight weeks after cover crop planting (B) four weeks after cover crop harvest, (C) four weeks before corn planting (D) four weeks after planting. Cover crops were harvested in October 2014 and 2015 and corn was planted in May 2015 and 2016 at East Lansing, MI
Table A2. ANOVA table for Plant canopy height taken bi-weekly from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest approximately, (A) eight weeks after planting (B) four weeks after harvest (C) four weeks before corn planting (D) four weeks after corn planting. Cover crops were harvested in October 2014 and 2015 and Corn was planted in May 2015 and 2016 at East Lansing, MI.83
Table A3. ANOVA table for Figure 5 forage dry matter harvested in October 2014 and 2015 from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest in July, at East Lansing, MI.
Table A4. ANOVA table for Figure 6 analysis of variance for labile organic matter for November2014 and October 2015 fall soil sampling after cover crop harvest. Cover crops wereharvested in October 2015 from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheatharvest in July. Cover crops were harvested in October 2014 at East Lansing, MI
Table A5. Carbon and nitrogen concentration in soil from the 12 cm depth sampled in November after cover crop were harvested or not harvested in October 2014 and 2015 at East Lansing, MI

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

Crop Rotations

Crop rotations have been used for centuries. Ancient kingdoms and empires, including the Romans, Grecians, Chinese and Egyptians, documented this agricultural practice (White, 1970; Angus et al., 2015). A three-year crop rotation called "food, feed, and fallow" was documented in the Middle Ages and Roman Empire. This rotation divided the farm acres into three sections; a human food crop such as wheat, an animal feed such as barley or oats, and a section that was not planted (fallow) (White, 1970). Later in the 18th century, European farms increased in size and farmers began to experiment with crop rotations, dividing the greater farm land area into four, four-year crop rotations which consisted of turnip, barley, clover and wheat (Evans, 1998).

Crop rotation is defined as a cropping sequence that contains fallows, forages, or specialuse crops in addition to the normally grown species crops that produce food, fiber or fuel such as wheat and corn (Angus et al., 2015). Though the terms "crop rotation" or "cropping sequences" was not used before the 1960's and documented first in the United Kingdom (Selman, 1969), many understood the benefits that came from growing unusual crops other than the normal species grown. Theophrastus wrote in the 4th Century that 'wheat exhausts the land more than any other crop' and 'beans. . .even seem to manure it' (Hort, 1926). While an ancient Roman text reads that "some crops are to be planted not so much for the immediate yield as with a view to the following year" (Harrison et al., 1913). The increased yields that are associated with crop rotations are now referred to as the rotation effect (Ellis et al., 1988; Pierce and Rice, 1988).

Decline of Crop Rotations

Before the 1940s and World War II, crop rotation was commonly used for many benefits including controlling insect infestations, controlling weeds, and reducing soil erosion (Zentner et al., 2002). After World War II, use of crop rotations began to decline rapidly, leading to increasing monocultures, and cropping systems that were homogenous with little genetic and plant diversity (Power and Follett, 1987). This decline occurred because of the introduction and availability of inexpensive synthetic fertilizers, coupled with more effective pesticides (Crookston et al., 1991; Bullock, 1992) that could substitute for pest suppression by the rotation. Mechanized farming has had a huge effect on agricultural dynamics in the United States (Bullock, 1992) as well as Europe (Leteinturier et al., 2006), allowing farmers to manage large acreages of monoculture crops. Brazil is also moving towards more industrialized agriculture and crop intensification patterns. This is shown by farming moving away from the typical farming pattern of growing a single crop per year to a more intensified growing pattern of two consecutive cash crops per year, depleting soil water and nutrients (Arvor et al., 2012).

Genetically modified organisms (GMOs), also known as genetically modified (GM) crops, such as corn and soybeans, have also contributed to the decline of crop rotations. To a great extent, GMOs were and are still designed to improve on the conventional crop varieties, for various purposes. For example, in corn, VT Triple PRO® (Monsanto), P1498AM® (DuPont) and DEKALB® GM varieties are used for pest control (DuPont, 2016; Monsanto, 2016) while Roundup Ready® GM varieties are used to improve quality (DuPont, 2016; Monsanto, 2016) by increasing the ease of weed control and increased yields. In the USA, Canada, Brazil, and several other countries, GM crops like corn, soybeans, cotton, and canola are commonly used and have replaced many of the conventional varieties (Gianessi, 2005; James, 2007; Reuter et al., 2011).

With the decline of crop rotation, the increase of industrialized agriculture and the use of GM crops, synthetic fertilizer, and pesticides, negative impacts and costs began to be noticed. Pesticide resistance has increased (Wolfenbarger and Phifer, 2000; Gianessi, 2005), leading to a shift in plant genetics and reducing the effectiveness of pesticides for insect control. Furthermore, the use of pesticides is associated with a decrease in the population of many beneficial insects, such as bees (Crane and Walker, 1983), a noticeable decrease in soil health and organic matter and an increase in soil movement or erosion (Pimentel et al., 1995).

Another negative impact of monocultures is yield drag or depression (Bullock, 1992; Sumner et al., 1990). In the 1980s, it was documented that corn grown on land planted to corn in the previous year or grown as a monoculture yielded up to 15% less grain than corn rotated with other crops (Sundquist et al., 1982). Soybean yields also declined 10 to 15% when grown as a monoculture (Bhowmik and Doll, 1982). With the realization of these potential damaging effects and the rise of the sustainable agriculture movement, additional research occurred to test hypothesizes as to the role of crop rotation in today's modern farming systems.

Benefits of Crop Rotations

Crop rotations benefit agricultural production, and modern farmers and researchers have recognized the need to include rotation for increased crop yields (Bhowmik and Doll, 1982; Sundquist et al., 1982 Ellis et al., 1988; Sumner et al., 1990; Porter et al., 1997), reduced pest damage (Bullock, 1992; Howard et al., 1998; Angus et al., 2015), reduced weeds (Liebman and Dyck, 1993; Colbach and Debaeke, 1998), and increased organic matter leading to a richer and healthier soil (Karlen et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2014).

Daubeny (1845) and Lawes and Gilbert (1894) completed some of the first structured experiments showing the value and justification of a rotation in comparison with continuous

cropping. Daubeny (1845) showed his results in a 10-year experiment in Rothamsted, United Kingdom, which three-fourths of the rotating cropping systems out-yielded the continuous cropping systems. The Lawes and Gilbert (1894) experiment showed that yields of broadleaf crops, such as soybeans, were much greater when grown in rotation than when grown continuously; barley yields were similar, and wheat yielded more when grown in rotation. Both experiments showed that the productivity of the crop rotation was greater than that of the continuous cropping system. Several other studies (Bhowmik and Doll, 1982; Sundquist et al., 1982; Ellis et al., 1988; Sumner et al., 1990; Porter et al.,1997; Nevens and Reheul, 2001; Zhang et al., 2014; Angus et al., 2015) also showed that rotations improved sustainability of cropping systems over continuous planting of the same crop.

With the increased intensification of agriculture to meet the food supply demand comes a concern for the environment (Piorr, 2003) and the impacts associated with industrialized farming. Farmers and researchers have found that reintroducing crop rotations into agricultural cropping systems not only increased yields, but improved soil structure and productivity. The realization of the importance of soil, the complexity of the soil ecosystem encompassing plant, water, nutrients, microbes, insects and mammal interactions (Bossio and Scow, 1998; Degens et al., 2000; Girvan et al., 2003) sparked interest in sustainable agriculture (Leteinturier et al., 2006).

Farming systems use cover crops for several reasons, some of the main reasons include weed suppression (Teasdale,1996), reduce soil erosion (Dabney et al., 2001), increase organic matter (Teasdale et al., 2007), and to break pest and disease cycles (Derpsch et al., 2010) and an additional source for nutrients (Blevins et al., 1990; Honeycutt et al., 1996; Hartwig and Ammon 2002; Vyn et al., 2000; Henry et al., 2010; Schipanski and Drinkwater, 2011) to benefit the cash

crops. Interest and research in crop rotations, soil communities and interactions, organic matter, tillage and chemical practices, living mulches cover crops and possible interactions between all of them have increased in the past few decades.

Cover Crops

With the abundant, cheap, and fertile farming land that was available during the 1800's (Mitchell et al., 1991) in the United States, farmers did not have a reason to develop an awareness or interest in preserving soil productivity through soil conservation. In the 1920s, the U.S. Department of Agriculture recognized the problem of soil erosion, but little was done to encourage farmers to invest in soil conservation practices (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002). This all changed in the 1930s when the Dust Bowl hit the United States, forcing farmers and the public alike to become concerned about soil erosion and adopt conservation practices that included cover crops and living mulches.

A cover crop is defined as any living ground cover that is planted into or after a main crop and then killed before the next crop is planted (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002), either by winter kill, chemical application, or tillage practice depending on the farming system. Living mulches are cover crops planted either before or with a main crop and maintained as a living ground cover throughout the growing season (Pimentel et al., 1995; Hartwig and Ammon, 2002). An example of a living mulch is red clover or alfalfa planted with wheat One of the main rationales of growing cover crops is to have growing, living plants on fields that would otherwise be fallow. Growing cover crops allows farmers to take better advantage of resources provide by the soil, sun and water while improving soil health and structure (Pimentel et al., 1995). This occurs because living plant cover protects the soil from erosion or loss (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Clark, 2007), scavenges nutrients that are otherwise unavailable or leached away during

the fallow season (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Clark, 2007; Henry et al., 2010), holds and cleans water (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002), and provides nutrients to the cash crop planted after the cover (Mitchell and Teel, 1977; Haystead and Marriot, 1978; Hargrove, 1986; Pimentel et al., 1995; Hartwig and Ammon 2002; Vyn et al., 2000; Henry et al., 2010; Schipanski and Drinkwater, 2011).

Cover crops have a wide variety of species diversity, adaption, uses, and benefits. Choice of cover crop is dependent on the location of the farm and the objectives of the farmer, and specific cover crop benefits are dependent on species choice (Snapp et al., 2005; Clark, 2007). One cover crop will not provide all possible benefits. The benefits of cover crops include; weed competition/suppression (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Clark, 2007), pest suppression and sustaining beneficial insect populations (Lazarus and White, 1984; Bugg and Waddington, 1994; Honeycutt et al., 1996; Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Clark, 2007), nitrogen source and/or scavenger (Kroontje and Kehr, 1956; Mitchell and Teel, 1977; Haystead and Marriot, 1978; Ebelhar et al., 1984; Hargrove, 1986; Fox and Piekielek, 1988; Vyn et al., 2000), wildlife enhancement (Clark, 2007), and grazing/forage value (Moore, 2003; Clark, 2007). Other benefits focus primarily on soil improvement by: building soil organic matter (Dabney et al., 2001; Sainju et al., 2001; Hartwig and Ammon, 2002), improving soil structure and reducing compaction (Clark, 2007), reducing erosion (Pimentel et al., 1995; Kessavalou and Walters, 1999; Stivers-Young and Tucker, 1999; Snapp et al., 2001; Hartwig and Ammon, 2002), recycling nutrients (Wayland et al. 1998; Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Weinert et al., 2002), enhancing water quality (Danso et al., 1991; Wayland et al., 1998; Vyn et al., 1999; Dabney et al., 2001; Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Clark, 2007), and supporting increased activity and sustainability of beneficial microbial communities (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Morrone and Snapp, 2011).

Cover crops are commonly divided into four groups: legumes, grasses, grains, and brassicas (Clark, 2007; USDA NRCS, 2016). Cover crops are often also categorized by climatic region or a niche where a cover crop is well adapted, using USDA Hardiness Zones or photosynthetic pathway designation as cool- (C3 photosynthesis) or warm- (C4 photosynthesis) season species (USDA NRCS, 2016).

Cover Crop Groups and Niches

In early western Europe agriculture, forage legumes slowly became more common and noticeably improved soil fertility (Stinner et al., 1994). This led to an increase in legume popularity not only as a feed source, but as a cover crop. Legumes used as cover crops include: alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.), red clover (Trifolium pratense L.), white clover (Trifolium repens L.), peas (Pisum sativum L.), cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L. Walp), sunn hemp (Crotalaria juncea L.), and hairy vetch (Vicia villosa Roth). Legumes are desirable cover crops because they have the potential for fixing nitrogen, a portion of which will be available in the subsequent rotations for high-nitrogen–requiring crops such as corn (Kroontje and Kehr, 1956; Mitchell and Teel, 1977; Haystead and Marriot, 1978; Hargrove, 1986; Ebelhar et al., 1984; Fox and Piekielek, 1988; Hartwig and Ammon 2002; Vyn et al., 2000; Henry et al., 2010; Schipanski and Drinkwater, 2011). Another added benefit for some legumes is the development of a deep taproot, such as found in alfalfa (Moore, 2003; Clark, 2007), which can break up compaction layers (Waldron and Dakessian, 1982; Disparte, 1987; Meek et al., 1990; Chen and Weil, 2011) and scavenge for nutrients (Mitchell and Teel, 1977; Ebelhar et al., 1984; Hargrove, 1986; Vyn et al., 2000; Chen and Weil, 2011).

Grasses and grains are used for their ability to control erosion and provide high residue (Pimentel et al., 1995; Kessavalou and Walters, 1999; Stivers-Young and Tucker, 1999; Snapp et

al., 2001). Several grasses and some grains are also considered for the potential to scavenge for nutrients (Clark, 2007), particularly nitrogen (Weinert et al., 2002; Snapp et al. 2005; Clark, 2007). This reduces loss of vital nutrients from soil and decomposing crop residues between rotations, and once grasses and grain residues are decomposed much of the nutrients are released back into the soil and available for uptake by the next crop. Grasses and grains used for cover crops include: sudangrass (*Sorghum bicolor L.*), sorghum x sudangrass hybrid [*Sorghum bicolor x S. bicolor (Piper) Stapf.*], teff grass (*Eragrostis tef* Zucc.), rye (*Secale cereal* L.), wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), oats (*Avena sativa* L.), pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L.), barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.), and annual ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum* L.).

Brassicas have been used for centuries as a food, feed, and oil source for both humans and animals, but were rarely used as a cover crop (Gupta and Pratap, 2007). The major cover crop benefits of the brassica group include N scavenging and weed suppression (Clark, 2007). Some brassicas such as oilseed radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.), rapeseed/canola (*Brassica napus L*.), and forage rape (*Brassica rapa* L.), have a deep tap root that can potentially break up compaction layers (Smith and Collins, 2003; Clark, 2007). Brassicas used as cover crops include: rapeseed/canola, forage turnip, oil seed radish and kale (*Brassica napus var. pabularia (DC.) Alef.*) (Smith and Collins, 2003; Clark, 2007; Gupta and Pratap, 2007).

Cool- and warm-season terms are more broad in terms of determining a cover crop niche (Barnes and Nelson, 2003; Clark, 2007), while USDA Hardiness Zones are more detailed (USDA NRCS, 2016). These terms help farmers know what conditions are required for establishment, growth, and survival as well as possible stressors and causes of cover crop death. Cool-season cover crops using in the Upper Midwest include: alfalfa, red clover, oil seed radish,

cereal rye, oat and field pea. Warm-season cover crops in the Upper Midwest include: cowpea, sudangrass, sorghum x sudangrass hybrid and teffgrass.

Cover crops can be planted in mixtures of functional groups to receive a combination of benefits dependent on the species selected. For example, legumes are often used in mixes with grasses or with small grains such as oats to increase nutritive value as forage (Balasko and Nelson, 2003) as well as fixing nitrogen (Haystead and Marriot, 1978; Hargrove, 1986; Ebelhar et al., 1984; Fox and Piekielek, 1988; Hartwig and Ammon 2002; Vyn et al., 2000; Henry et al., 2010; Schipanski and Drinkwater, 2011). Complex mixtures that include multiple cover crop species including grasses, grains, brassicas, and/or legumes are popularly referred to as "cocktail mixtures" (Clark, 2007).

Negative Impacts of Cover Crops

Though there are many benefits to including a cover crop in a crop rotation, there are negatives associated with cover crops as well. Cover crops can be hard to kill and can become weeds in subsequent crop rotations, reducing crop yields (Snapp et al., 2005; Clark, 2007) due to the competition for water, nutrients and light (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002). Residues of cover crops such as cereal rye can be hard to incorporate, which may delay planting of the next cash crop and delay in nutrient release from residues (Snapp et al., 2005). Some cover crops can reservoirs for diseases affecting the following cash crop, such as red clover being a host for *Streptomyces scabiei* (scab), a common disease in potato production (Bugg and Waddington, 1994).

There are other reasons why farmers are hesitant to plant cover crops, including cover crop seed cost and availability (Snapp et al., 2005) as well as establishment of the cover crop. Cost of cover crop establishment can be great, with potential costs for irrigation water, planting,

fertilizer, pest control, and weeding (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Snapp et al., 2005; Clark, 2007). Weeds cannot be controlled in many of the cover crops once they become established and sometimes the cover crop does not compete well with weeds during early establishment (Smith and Collins, 2003).

Cover Crops as Forage

Another use for cover crops is as a forage. Many species currently being used as covers have a long history of use as annual forage crops in livestock production systems; however, the potential for cover crops to be harvested as forage in cash-cropping systems is an important and relatively recent development in cover crop research. Farmers can receive the benefits of having a cover crop as discussed above, but also receive an added benefit of feed, either for on-farm animals or to sell (Snapp and Mutch, 2003; Snapp et al., 2005). However, there is a common concern that some or all of the environmental and cash crop benefits of the cover crop will be lost if it is harvested early as a forage. In addition, it is not clear if harvesting cover crops as forage is cost-effective. Some species commonly used as both forages and cover crops in the Upper Midwest include: alfalfa, red clover, brassicas, small grains, and field pea.

History of Forage Crops

Forage crops have a long and rich history as livestock feed. Functional groups of forage species include various legumes, cool- and warm- season grasses, and brassicas. Grasses have always been used as a forage, though many of the grasses used as forages today in the US were introduced from Eurasia, the Mediterranean, Africa and Europe. The reason for this introduction of grasses was to replace the less-productive native grasses (Buckner et al., 1979; Conant et al., 2001; Balasko and Nelson, 2003; Barnes and Nelson, 2003; Redfearn and Nelson, 2003).

Many of the grassland acres were lost to cultivation and overgrazing (Seré et al., 1995; Conant et al., 2001) and were poorly managed, and soil degradation (Oldeman, 1994), invasion of weeds, and loss in overall quality of the lands occurred (Oldeman, 1994; Seré et al., 1995; Conant et al., 2001). The annual forages in cropping systems, that replaced the permanent grasslands, can potentially substitute some of the ecosystem services, such as feed for animals, soil and plant biodiversity, and water and nutrient availability and uptake, originally provided by the permanent grasslands that were lost (Conant et al., 2001; Balasko and Nelson, 2003; Barnes and Nelson, 2003; Redfearn and Nelson, 2003; Sanderson et al. 2004; Brussaard et al., 2007; Wrage et al., 2011).

Forage Quality and Groups

Each group of forages has specific characteristics of nutritive value, often referred to as forage quality. Forage quality is defined as the potential of a forage to produce a chosen animal response (Church, 1988; Fahey et al., 1994; Paterson et al., 1994; Collins and Fritz, 2003; Mitchell and Nelson, 2003). An example of this response can be in optimal milk production on a dairy farm, appropriate weight gain on steers in beef production, or wool production. Characteristics of "good" forage quality is a specific nutrient concentration that is appropriate for acceptable animal production based on animal species and class (Church, 1988; Collins and Fritz, 2003). Not all forages provide good forage quality for all animal classes. Other quality characteristics include palatability (i.e. easy to eat and digest), free of anti-quality factors originating from the plant (i.e. nitrates, dust, toxic secondary compounds), and free of outside contaminants (i.e. mold, toxic plants, soil, weeds, etc.) (Collins and Fritz, 2003).

Legumes have superior forage quality to grasses (Cherney and Cherney, 2002; McGraw and Nelson, 2003) resulting from their high protein content (Church, 1988; Cherney and

Cherney, 2002; Undersander et al., 2004; Evers, 2011), high fiber digestibility (Cherney and Cherney, 2002), high lipids (Undersander et al., 2004), and condensed tannins (for some species of legumes) (McGraw and Nelson, 2003). Also, as discussed earlier, most legumes fix atmospheric nitrogen (N₂) which contributes to overall soil N fertility (Barnes and Nelson, 2003; McGraw and Nelson, 2003; Evers, 2011). With this ability and excellent forage quality, legumes are often seeded into pastures and hayfields. Legumes help meet dietary needs of many animal classes (McGraw and Nelson, 2003; Mitchell and Nelson, 2003; Undersander et al., 2004; Evers, 2011). Some legumes used as forages include alfalfa, clovers (*Trifolium* spp.) and peas.

Grasses are lower in forage quality than legumes and are typically mixed with legumes in pasture and hayfields to improve the nutritive value (McGraw and Nelson, 2003; Balasko and Nelson, 2003). Grass species differ in palatability and physical texture, which in turn affects animal intake and consumption. Softer leaves and fine stem of some grasses such as the ryegrasses (*Lolium* spp) and bluegrasses (*Poa* spp), are easier to consume compared to the stiffer leaves and thicker stems of different grass species (Paterson et al., 1994; Balasko and Nelson, 2003). Another factor is the developmental stage of growth in grasses. Depending on the growth stage, leaves are more palatable in the vegetative stage rather than in the reproductive stage (Paterson et al., 1994; Balasko and Nelson, 2003). Additionally, forage quality decreases in grasses during the reproductive stages because lignin increases with maturity. Lignin can increase rapidly from about two percent to as much as eight percent of dry weight during the reproductive stages (Brown et al., 1968; Balasko and Nelson, 2003).

Cool-season perennial grasses provide most of the forages consumed by beef cattle and sheep in temperate areas of the world (Balasko and Nelson, 2003). Perennial warm-season and summer annual grasses provide forage in northern areas of the US (Barnes, 2003). However, in

the Midwest, warm-season grasses typically have a lower forage quality (Kephart and Buxton, 1993; Paterson et al., 1994; Balasko and Nelson, 2003) compared to cool-season grasses. Reduced nutritive value is due to the decrease in the leaf to stem ratio (Paterson et al., 1994; Balasko and Nelson, 2003), reduced protein concentration (Balasko and Nelson, 2003), and greater lignin and other structural tissues in the leaves (Paterson et al., 1994; Balasko and Nelson, 2003). An important development that improved forage quality of some warm-season grasses was the discovery of the brown midrib trait (BMR) which reduces lignin concentration in the plant and thus improves digestibility (Cherney et al., 1991). Commercially available BMR varieties are available for sorghums, sudangrass, and corn.

Forage from small grain crops provides a high-quality feed (Cherney and Marten, 1982; Church, 1988; Coblentz and Walgenbach, 2010), assists with animal growth, increases the quality provided by animal products (i.e. milk and meat, etc.) (Church, 1988), and can be used as an alternative feed. For example, in beef production fall forage growth from small grains provides a source of high-quality feed (Church, 1988) and can extend the grazing season thus reducing the need for supplemental hay during the winter months (Coblentz and Walgenbach, 2010). For other livestock producers, forage growth provided by small grains may also provide extra forage during and after a summer drought (Coblentz and Walgenbach, 2010). Coblentz and Walgenbach (2010) found that a variety of oat yielded more compared to wheat (*Triticum aestivum L*.) cultivars and remained vegetative due to the longer colder temperatures and a longday photoperiod requirement. In a study conducted by Cherney and Marten (1982), barley (*Hordeum vulgate* L.) forage nutritive value was often greater than oats, wheat, or triticale (*Triticum durum* Desf. × *Secale cereale* L.) and wheat was the lowest yielding forage.

The brassica family of forages have been used for livestock feed for centuries (Smith and Collins, 2003). Brassicas are thought to originate in Asia and have been cultivated for thousands of years (Gupta and Pratap, 2007; Banuelos et al., 2013). In the US during the 1800s, brassicas were used as feedstuffs, providing a high economic return in the harvesting, storing, and feeding of the large roots (Smith and Collins, 2003; Banuelos et al., 2013). Forage brassica economic viability hit a peak in the early 1900s, and use of brassicas then began to decline due to the high labor cost for cultivation, harvest, and feeding (Smith and Collins, 2003). Recently brassicas have made a return because of their value as a forage and potential as a cover crop (Clark, 2007; Gupta and Pratap, 2007; Banuelos et al., 2013). Useful characteristics of brassicas include: high frost tolerance - allowing them to grow and maintain biomass in colder months and lengthen the grazing season (Smith and Collins, 2003), little decline in nutritive value with maturity (Smith and Collins, 2003; Gupta and Pratap, 2007), and high energy content because the large storage roots of turnips, swedes (Brassica napobrassica L.) and radish are a good source for nonstructural carbohydrates (Smith and Collins, 2003; Gupta and Pratap, 2007). Therefore, brassicas provide a high-quality feed for their entire growth period. Another benefit is brassicas are easily established and grow quickly, providing suppression of weeds and a quick forage (Wilson et al., 1992). Brassicas include turnips, swedes, forage rape (*Brassica napus* L.), kale, radish (Brassica rapa L.) and hybrids such as 'Tyfon' which is a cross between Chinese cabbage (Brassica rapa L. subsp. pekinensis) and turnip (Rao and Horn 1995; Guo et al., 2014). Negative Impacts of Forages

Negative impacts can be associated with forages. Grasses commonly have anti-quality factors such as alkaloids that can cause several types of animal health risks (Collins and Hannaway, 2003). Parturient paresis or commonly known as milk fever, is a complex metabolic

disorder that occurs at the onset of lactation in haylage feed or after the birth of a new born calf (Goff, 2008). Cows fed high potassium (K) or high sodium (Na) diets can reduce the ability of the cow to maintain Ca homeostasis (Goff and Horst 1997). Low blood calcium (Ca) concentrations found in cow blood is a problem associated with milk fever and can cause a cow to lose the ability to rise to her feet as Ca is necessary for nerve and muscle function (Horst et al., 1997; Goff, 2008). Other symptoms of this disease include inappetence, tetany, inhibition of urination and defecation, lateral recumbency, and eventual coma and death if left untreated (Horst et al., 1997). In a study conducted by Cherney and Marten (1982) oat, barley, wheat, and triticale were tested barley had the greatest milk fever potential, which was estimated by Ca/P ratios. Other potential negatives of forages include persistence of forages (i.e. become weedy) (Clark, 2007), hosts for pests/insects (Martin, 2004) and high seed cost (DeGregorio et al., 1995; Labarta et al., 2002).

Potential Double Crops in Michigan and the Upper Midwest

Depending on location in Michigan and the Upper Midwest, the typical fallow period from mid-summer harvest of winter wheat to planting of the subsequent crop (usually corn in Michigan) is nine to ten months long (July through May). This includes 90 growing days in the late summer and fall after wheat is harvested in July. The long fallow period leaves soil susceptible to water and wind erosion, allows loss of N and C from the system, and encourages weed proliferation (Snapp and Mutch, 2003). Farmers in Michigan and the upper Midwest have frost seeded red clover into wheat in late March or early April for many years, providing a cover on the soil following wheat harvest that fixes nitrogen (Vyn et al., 1999; Snapp et al., 2005). Alternatively, a farmer could harvest wheat and then plant a cover crop to improve soil health (Snapp et al., 2005), fix nitrogen for the next row crop in the rotation (Tanaka et al., 1997), and

provide a harvestable double crop of forage (Snapp and Mutch, 2003). Farmers are uncertain which cover crops planted in or after wheat would have the greatest potential for return on investment under Upper Midwest growing conditions, and if any of these cover crops would be advantageous compared to red clover seeded into the growing wheat crop in early spring. Additionally, farmers have questions concerning the harvesting of red clover or other cover crops for forage. Would forage harvest adversely affect soil organic matter (SOM) accumulation and future crop productivity and yield (Snapp et al., 2005)? Finally, cover crops which survive winter including red clover, require a termination operation, thus increasing expense or delaying spring planting. Annual legumes or other covers that do not survive Michigan winters might be able to provide similar benefits as red clover without the added expense of termination.

In order to establish during the hot dry weather typically encountered in July and August in Michigan, a cover crop needs to be tolerant of such conditions. To be valuable as a forage, cover crops should have documented feeding value. Alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) can be frost seeded into wheat in March/April or established in July to provide high quality forage within 60 days (Barnes et al, 1988; Pfarr, 1988; Sheaffer et at., 1988; Sheaffer et al., 1989; Sheaffer et al., 1992). The non-dormant alfalfa (non-winter-hardy variety) varieties that are used as cover crops should winterkill under Michigan conditions. Other legume options include heat-tolerant species such as sunn hemp (*Crotalaria juncea* L.) and cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.]) which have been used as forage crops as far north as Virginia (Schomberg et al., 2007) but not tested for forage use in Michigan. Cowpea and sunn hemp can provide the benefits of a legume and can withstand hotter temperatures usually found during Michigan summers. 'Tropic Sun' sunn hemp was developed with forage potential in mind. Oat/ (*Avena sativa* L.) field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) mixtures are an accepted forage mixture in Michigan, providing forage throughout the growing

season, especially during the latter part of the growing season in fall. Warm-season grasses include BMR varieties of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) and sorghum x sudangrass (*Sorghum bicolor x S. bicolor (Piper) Stapf*), which have superior fiber digestibility that simultaneously makes them valuable as a forage (Cherney et al., 1991) and increases rate of residue decomposition to active organic matter fractions in soil. Also, depending on the variety, sorghum cover crops can have a fast growth rate and reach maximum cover in short growing periods. Teff grass [*Eragrostis tef* (Zuccagni) Trotter] is another warm-season grass option for Michigan (Roseberg et al., 2006; Miller, 2009; Young et al., 2014), reaching harvestable biomass for hay within 60 days after planting. Oil-seed radish is a cover crop that is attracting farmer interest across Michigan. As a forage, radish is more typically used as pasture (Monjardino et al., 2004) rather than as hay or haylage due to its high moisture content; when grown in combination with volunteer wheat it may be a viable option as a haylage double crop.

Why Cover Crops as Forages?

Total farm and crop acreages are decreasing, NASS (2012a) reported a long-term decline of farms, 2.5 million farms in 1982 to 2.1 million in 2012. Farmland acres are decreasing as shown in a five-year period, 922.1 in 2007 to 914.4 acres in 2012, which is a 0.8% decline of farmland acres (NASS, 2012a). With this decline, corn and soybean acres are increasing, 1% and 19% respectively, and forage acres are decreasing by 9% in the 2007-2012 five-year period (NASS, 2012a). Nationally, there is a total of 55.7 million (813,583 farms with forage acres) acres for harvested forage, land used for all hay and all haylage, grass silage, and greenchop, in 2012 in the United States (NASS, 2012b). More specifically, of the total 55.7 million harvested forage acres, there was 3 million harvested haylage or greenchop from alfalfa or alfalfa acres in the United States in 2012 (NASS, 2012c). All other haylage, grass silage, and greenchop

consisted of 2.4 million harvested acres in the United States in 2012 (NASS, 2012d). Additionally, there were a total of 17.5 million milk cows (NASS, 2012e) and a total of 53.6 million beef cattle in the United States in 2012 (NASS, 2012f) which is a decline from 2007, 0.1% and 0.4% respectively, (NASS, 2012a).

U.S. Department of Agriculture's 2012 Census of Agriculture reported 10.3 million acres of cover crops planted in 2012 (NASS, 2012g). SARE (2016) reported a steady increase in the number of planted to cover crops acres from 2010-2015, and predicted a continued increase in acreage to be planted to cover crops in the late summer or fall of 2016. The mean number of cover crop acres planted in 2015 among 1,379 users was 298, a 25% increase in acreage over 2014. The respondents expected to increase that figure to a mean of 339 in the 2016 season, a 14% projected increase in the average user's cover crop acreage in 2016. Based on the trend line of SARE's (2012) survey data, today's current cover crop acreage is projected to be several million acres higher than in 2012.

With forage land on the long-term decline a need for forage crops is needed to provide feed for animals. Trends for animal production is also declining, but not as drastically as the decline of forage acres. The increase demand for food requires a change to be made (Piorr, 2003). Cover crops could provide an additional benefit to farmers, not only as a cover crop, but as a harvestable forage to be used for livestock production therefore possibly increasing the economic value for cover crops and their adoption on farms. This can help improve farm sustainability by providing a cover before and after row crops such as corn (Teasdale, 1996; SARE, 2016). In addition, adding value to cover crops as harvested forage may help mitigate added costs of buying cover seed and planting it (Snapp et al., 2005), thus encouraging farmers to use cover crops after small grains, such as wheat (Tanaka et al., 1996; Angus et al., 2015).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Angus, J.F., J.A. Kirkegaard, J.R. Hunt, M.H. Ryan, L. Ohlander, and M.B. Peoples. 2015. Break crops and rotations for wheat. Crop and Pasture Sci. 66:523-552.
- Arvor, D., M. Meirelles, V. Dubreuil, A. Bégué, and Y.E. Shimabukuro. 2012. Analyzing the agricultural transition in Mato Grosso, Brazil, using satellite-derived indices. Appl. Geograp. 32:702-713.
- Balasko, J.A., and C.J. Nelson. 2003. Grasses for northern areas. Pp.125-148. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Banuelos, G.S., K.S. Dhillon, and S.S Banga. 2013. Oilseed brassicas. Pp. 339–368. In B.P. Singh (ed.), Biofuel crops: Production, physiology and genetics. Centre for Agricultural Biosciences International, Egham, Surrey, UK.
- Barnes, R.F., and C.J. Nelson. 2003. Forages and grasslands in a changing world. Pp. 3-24. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Bhowmik, P.C., and J.D. Doll. 1982. Corn and soybean response to allelopathic effects of weed and crop residues. Agron. J. 74:601-606.
- Blevins, R.L., J.H. Herbek, and W.W. Frye. 1990. Legume cover crops as a nitrogen source for no-till corn and grain sorghum. Agron. J. 82:769-772.
- Bossio, D., and K. Scow. 1998. Impacts of carbon and flooding on soil microbial communities:phospholipid fatty acid profiles and substrate utilization patterns. Microbiol. Ecol. 35:265-278.
- Brown, C.S., G.A. Jung, K.E. Varney, R.C. Wakefield, and J.B. Washko. 1968. Management and productivity of perennial grasses in the Northeast. Bull. E-570T. West Virginia Univ. Agricultural Experiment Station. Morgantown, West Virginia. Pp 1-36.
- Brussaard, L., P.C. De Ruiter, and G.G. Brown. 2007. Soil biodiversity for agricultural sustainability. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 121:233-244.
- Buckner, R.C., J.B. Powell, R.V. Frakes, and L.P. Bush. 1979. Tall Fescue. Agron. Monogr. ASA, CSSA, SSSA, Madison, WI. Pp.1-8.
- Bugg, R.L., and C. Waddington. 1994. Using cover crops to manage arthropod pests of orchards: A review. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 50:11-28.

Bullock, D.G. 1992. Crop rotation. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 11:309-326.

- Chen, G., and R.R. Weil. 2011. Root growth and yield of maize as affected by soil compaction and cover crops. Soil and Tillage Res. 117:17-27.
- Cherney, J.H., and D.J.R. Cherney. 2002. Legume forage quality. J. Crop Prod. 5:261-284.
- Cherney, J.H., and G.C. Marten. 1982. Small grain crop forage potential: I. Biological and chemical determinants of quality, and yield. Crop Sci. 22:227-231.
- Cherney, J.H., D.J.R. Cherney, D.E. Akin, and J.D. Axtell. 1991. Potential of brown-midrib, low-lignin mutants for improving forage quality. Adv. Agron. 46:157-198.
- Church, D.C. 1988. The ruminant animal: digestive physiology and nutrition. Englewood Cliffs, NJ:Prentice-Hall. Pp. 152-153, 192,195, 511-523, 406-419, 468-474.
- Clark, A. 2007. Midwest cover crops field guide (2nd ed.). Washington DC, District of Columbia:USDA. Pp. 1-145
- Coblentz, W.K., and R.P. Walgenbach. 2010. Fall growth, nutritive value, and estimation of total digestible nutrients for cereal-grain forages in the north-central United States. J. Anim. Sci. 88:383.
- Colbach, N., and P. Debaeke. 1998. Crop management and crop rotation effects into models of weed population dynamics: A Review. Weed Sci. 46:717-728.
- Collins, M., and D.B. Hannaway. 2003. Forage related animal disorders. Pp. 415-442. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Collins, M., and J.O. Fritz. 2003. Forage quality. Pp. 363-390. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Conant, R.T., K. Paustian, and E.T. Elliott. 2001. Grassland management and conversion into grassland:effects on soil carbon. Ecol. Applic.11:343-355.
- Crane, E., and P. Walker. 1983. The impact of pest management on bees and pollination. Tropical Development and Research Institute. London, UK. Pp. 1-211.
- Crookston, R.K., J.E. Kurle, P.J. Copeland, J.H. Ford, and W.E Lueschen. 1991. Rotational cropping sequence affects yield of corn and soybean. Agron. J. 83:108-113.
- Dabney, S.M., J.A. Delgado, and D.W. Reeves. 2001. Using winter cover crops to improve soil and water quality. Commun. Soil. Sci. Plant Anal. 32:1221-1250.

- Danso, S. K., C. Labandera, D. Pastorini, and S. Curbelo. 1991. Herbage yield and nitrogen fixation in a triple species mixed sward of white clover, lotus and fescue. Soil Biol. Biochem. 23:65–70.
- Daubeny C. 1845. Memoir on the rotation of crops, and on the quantity of inorganic matters abstracted from the soil by various plants under different circumstances. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. 135:179–252.
- Degens, B., L.A. Schipper, G.P. Sparling, and M.V. Vukovic. 2000. Decreases in organic C reserves in soils can reduce the catabolic diversity of soil microbial communities. Soil Biol. Biochem. 32:189-196.
- DeGregorio, R., M.W. Schonbeck, J. Levine, G. Iranzo-Berrocal, and H. Hopkins. 1995. Bigflower vetch and rye vs. rye alone as a cover crop for no-till sweet corn. J. Sustain. Agric. 5:7-18.
- Derpsch, R., T. Friedrich, A. Kassam, and H. Li. 2010. Current status of adoption of no-till farming in the world and some of its main benefits. Int. J. Agric. and Biol. Engineer. 3:1-25.
- Disparte, A.A. 1987. Effect of root mass density on infiltration among four Mediterranean dryland forages and two irrigated legumes. M.S. thesis. University of California, Riverside.
- Dupont. 2016. Corn products and local data. https://www.pioneer.com/home/site/us/products. (Web accessed 2017).
- Ebelhar, S.A., W.W. Frye, and R.L. Blevins. 1984. Nitrogen from legume cover crops for notillage corn. Agron. J. 76:51–55
- Evans, L.T. 1998. Feeding the ten billion: plants and population growth. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK. Pp. 1-247.
- Evers, G.W. 2011. Forage legumes: forage quality, fixed nitrogen, or both. Crop Sci. 51:403-409.
- Fahey J.R., G.C., M. Collins, and D.R. Mertens. 1994. Forage quality, evaluation and utilization. ASA, SSSA, CSSA. Madison, WI. Pp. 450–493.
- Fox, R.H., and W.P. Piekielek. 1988. Fertilizer nitrogen equivalence of alfalfa, BFT and red clover for succeeding corn crops. J. Prod. Agric. 4:313–317.
- Gianessi, L.P. 2005. Economic and herbicide use impacts of glyphosate-resistant crops. Pest. Manag. Sci. 61:241-245.

- Girvan, M.S., J. Bullimore, J.N. Pretty, A.M. Osborn, and A.S. Ball. 2003. Soil type is the primary determinant of the composition of the total and active bacterial communities in arable soils. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69:1800-1809.
- Goff, J.P. 2008. The monitoring, prevention, and treatment of milk fever and subclinical hypocalcemia in dairy cows. Veterinary J. 176:50-57.
- Goff, J.P., and R.L. Horst. 1997. Effects of the addition of potassium or sodium, but not calcium, to prepartum rations on milk fever in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 80:176-186.
- Grabber, J.H., W.E. Jokela, and J.G. Lauer. 2014. Soil nitrogen and forage yields of corn grown with clover or grass companion crops and manure. Agron. J. 106:952-961.
- Guo, Y., S. Chen, Z. Li, and W.A. Cowling. 2014. Center of origin and centers of diversity in an ancient crop, *Brassica rapa* (Turnip Rape). J. Heredity. 105:555–565
- Gupta, S. K., and A. Pratap. 2007. History, origin, and evolution. Adv. Botany Res. 45:1-20.
- Hargrove, W.L. 1986. Winter legumes as a nitrogen source for no-till grain sorghum. Agron. J. 78:70–74.
- Harrison, F., M.P. Cato, and M.T. Varro. 1913. Roman farm management; the treatises of Cato and Varro. Macmillan Company. New York, NY. Pp 15-20.
- Hartwig, N.L., and H.U. Ammon. 2002. Cover crops and living mulches. Weed Sci. 50:688-699.
- Haystead, A., and C. Marriott. 1978. Fixation and transfer of nitrogen in a white clover-grass sward under hill conditions. Ann. Appl. Biol. 88:453–457
- Henry, D.C., R.W. Mullen, C.E. Dygert, K.A. Diedrick, and A. Sundermeier. 2010. Nitrogen contribution from red clover for corn following wheat in western Ohio. J. Agron. 102:210-215.
- Hinrichs, C.C., and R. Welsh. 2003. The effects of the industrialization of US livestock agriculture on promoting sustainable production practices. Agric. Human Values. 20:125-141.
- Honeycutt, C.W., W.M. Clapham, and S.S. Leach. 1996. Crop rotation and nitrogen fertilization effects on growth, yield and disease incidence in potato. Am. Potato J. 73:45–61.
- Horst, R.L., J.P. Goff, T.A. Reinhardt, and D.R. Buxton. 1997. Strategies for preventing milk fever in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 80:1269-1280.
- Hort, A., 1926. Theophrastus: enquiry into plants II. Harvard University Press. Cambridge, MA. Pp. 42-50.

- Howard, D.D., A.Y. Chambers, and G.M. Lessman. 1998. Rotation and fertilization effects on corn and soybean yields and soybean cyst nematode populations in a no-tillage system. Agron. J. 90:518-522.
- James, C. 2007. Global status of commercialized transgenic crops. Executive Summary. ISAAA Briefs No. 37. International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-biotech Applications, Ithaca, NY. Pp. 4-9
- Karlen, D.L., E.G. Hurley, S.S. Andrews, C.A. Cambardella, D.W. Meek, M.D. Duffy, and A.P. Mallarino. 2006. Crop rotation effects on soil quality at three northern corn/soybean belt locations. Agron. J. 98:484-495.
- Kephart, K.D., and D.R. Buxton. 1993. Forage quality responses of C3 and C4 perennial grasses to shade. Crop Sci. 33:831-837.
- Kessavalou, A., and D.T. Walters. 1999. Winter rye cover crop following soybean under conservation tillage: Residual soil nitrate. Agron. J. 91:643–649.
- Kroontje, W., and W.R. Kehr. 1956. Legume top and root yields in the year of seeding and subsequent barley yields. Agron J. 48:127–131.
- Labarta, R., S.M. Swinton, J.R. Black, S.S. Snapp, and R. Leep. 2002. Economic analysis approaches to potato-based integrated crop systems: Issues and methods. Department Agric. Econ. Michigan State Univ. Ext., East Lansing, MI. Pp.1-42.
- Lawes J.B., and J.H. Gilbert. 1894. Rotation of crops. J. Royal Agri. Soci. of England. 55:585–646.
- Lazarus, S.S., and G.B. White. 1984. Economic impact of introducing rotations on Long Island potato farms. Northeast. J. Agric. Resour. Econ. 13:221–228.
- Leteinturier, B., J. Herman, F.D. Longueville, L. Quintin, and R. Oger. 2006. Adaptation of a crop sequence indicator based on a land parcel management system. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 112:324-334.
- Liebman, M., and E. Dyck. 1993. Crop rotation and intercropping strategies for weed management. Ecol. Applic. 3:92-122.
- Martin, N.A. 2004. History of an invader, Scaptomyza flava (Diptera:Drosophilidae). New Zealand J. Zoology. 31:27-32.
- McBride, W.D. 1997. Change in US Livestock Production, 1969-92. J. Agric. Econ. 754:1-3.
- McGraw, R.L., C.J. Nelson. 2003. Legumes for northern areas. Pp. 171-190. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.

- Meek, B.D., W.R. DeTar, E.R. Rechel, L.M. Carter, and D. Rolph. 1990. Infiltration rate as affected by an alfalfa and no-till cotton cropping system. Soil Sci. Soc. of Am. J. 54:505-508.
- Miller, D. 2009. Teff grass: a new alternative. Pp. 1-8. *In* Proceedings, 2009 California Alfalfa & Forage Symposium and Western Seed Conference, Reno, NV. Univ. California Cooperative Ext. Davis, CA.
- Mitchell, C.C., R.L. Westerman, J.R. Brown, and T.R. Peck. 1991. Overview of long-term agronomic research. Agron. J. 83:24-29
- Mitchell, R.B., and C.N. Nelson. 2003. Structure and morphology of legumes and other forbs. Pp. 51-72. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Mitchell, W.H. and M.R. Teel. 1977. Winter annual cover crops for no-tillage corn production. Agron. J. 69:569–573.
- Monjardino, M., D.J. Pannell, and S.B. Powles. 2004. The economic value of pasture phases in the integrated management of annual ryegrass and wild radish in a Western Australian farming system. Anim. Prod. 44:265-271.
- Monsanto. 2016. Monsanto corn varieties. http://www.monsanto.com/products/pages/default.aspx. (Web accessed 2017).
- Moore, K.J. C.N. 2003. Compendium of common forages. Following Pp. 236. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Morrone, V. and S.S. Snapp. 2011. Building soil for organic and sustainable farms: where to start?. Bull. E-3144. Michigan State Univ. Ext., East Lansing, MI. Pp. 1-16.
- NASS. 2012a. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012b. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Online_Resources/Ag_Atlas_Maps/Cr ops_and_Plants/Hay_and_Forage_Crops_Harvested/12-M200-RGBDot1-largetext.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012c. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Online_Resources/Ag_Atlas_Maps/Cr ops_and_Plants/Hay_and_Forage_Crops_Harvested/12-M210-RGBDot1-largetext.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).

- NASS. 2012d. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Online_Resources/Ag_Atlas_Maps/Cr ops_and_Plants/Hay_and_Forage_Crops_Harvested/12-M211-RGBDot1-largetext.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012e. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_1_US/st99 _1_017_019.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012f. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_1_US/st99 _1_014_016.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012g. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_1_US/st99 _1_014_016.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- Nevens, F., and D. Reheul. 2001. Crop rotation versus monoculture; yield, N yield and ear fraction of silage maize at different levels of mineral N fertilization. Wagenin. J. Life Sci. 49:405-425.
- Oldeman, L.R. 1994. The global extent of soil degradation. Pp. 99-118. *In D.* Greenland and W. Szaboles (Ed.) Soil resilience and sustainable land use. CAB International. Wallingford, UK.
- Paterson, J. A., J.P. Bowman, R.L. Belyea, M.S. Kerley, and J.E. Williams. 1994. The impact of forage quality and supplementation regimen on ruminant animal intake and performance. Pp. 59-114. In: G. C. Fahey et al. (Ed.) Forage quality, evaluation, and utilization. ASA, CSSA, SSSA. Madison, WI.
- Pierce, F.J., Rice, C.W., 1988. Crop rotation and its impact on efficiency of water and nitrogen use. Pp. 21–42. *In* Cropping Strategies for Efficient Use of Water and Nitrogen. ASA Special Publication 51. ASA, CSSA, and SSSA. Madison, WI.
- Pimentel, D., C. Harvey, P. Resosudarmo, and K. Sinclair. 1995. Environmental and economic costs of soil erosion and conservation benefits. Science (Washington, DC). 267:1117-1123.
- Piorr, H.P. 2003. Environmental policy, agri-environmental indicators and landscape indicators. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 98:17–33.
- Porter, P. M., J.G. Lauer, W.E. Lueschen, J.H. Ford, T.R. Hoverstad, E.S. Oplinger, and R.K. Crookston. 1997. Environment affects the corn and soybean rotation effect. Agron. J. 89:442-448.

Power, J.F. and R.F. Follett. 1987. Monoculture. Sci. Am. 256:57-64.

- Rao, S.C. and F.P. Horn. 1995. Other temperate legumes. Pp. 451- 462. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Redfearn, D.D., C.J. Nelson. 2003. Grasses for southern areas. Pp. 149-170. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Reuter, H.G. Schmidt, W. Schröder, U. Middelhoff, H. Pehlke, and B. Breckling. 2011. Regional distribution of genetically modified organisms (GMOs): Up-scaling the dispersal and persistence potential of herbicide resistant oilseed rape (*Brassisca napus*). Ecol. Indicators. 11:989-999.
- Roseberg, R.J., S. Norberg, J. Smith, B. Charlton, K. Rykbost, and C. Shock. 2006. Yield and quality of teff forage as a function of varying rates of applied irrigation and nitrogen. Research in the Klamath Basin 2005 Annual Report. OSU-AES Spec. Repo. 1069:119-136.
- Sainju, U.M., B.P. Singh, and S. Yaffa. 2002. Soil organic matter and tomato yield following tillage, cover cropping, and nitrogen fertilization. Agron. J. 94:594–602.
- Sanderson, M.A., R.H. Skinner, D.J. Barker, G.R. Edwards, B.F. Tracy, and D.A. Wedin. 2004. Plant species diversity and management of temperate forage and grazing land ecosystems. Crop Sci. 44:1132–1144.
- SARE. 2016. Stainable Agriculture Research and Education Cover Crop Survey Analysis. http://www.sare.org/Learning-Center/From-the-Field/North-Central-SARE-From-the-Field/2016-Cover-Crop-Survey-Analysis. (Web accessed 2016).
- Schipanski, M.E., and L.E. Drinkwater. 2011. Nitrogen fixation of red clover interseeded with winter cereals across a management-induced fertility gradient. Nutrient Cycling Agroecosystems. 90:105-119.
- Schomberg, H.H., N.L. Martini, J.C. Diaz-Perez, S.C. Phatak, K.S. Balkcom, and H.J. Bhardwaj. 2007. Potential for using sunn hemp as a source of biomass and nitrogen for the Piedmont and Coastal Plain regions of the southeastern USA. Agron. J. 99:1448-1457.
- Selman M. 1969. Continuous wheat: the problem and prospects. Report of Boxworth Experimental Husbandry Farm for 1968. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK. Pp. 19–26.
- Seré, C., H. Steinfeld, and J. Groenewold. 1995. World livestock production systems: current status, issues and trends. *In* Consultation on Global Agenda for Livestock Research. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome, Italy. 18-20 Jan 1995. ILRI.

- Smith, D.H. M. Collins. 2003. Forbes. Pp. 215-238. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Snapp, S.S., and D.R. Mutch. 2003. Cover crop choices for Michigan. Bull. E-2896. Michigan State Univ. Ext., East Lansing, Michigan, USA. Pp. 1-4.
- Snapp, S.S., H.R. Borden, and D.D. Rohrbach. 2001. Improving nitrogen efficiency: lessons from Malawi and Michigan. p. 42–48. *In* J. Galloway et al. (Ed.) Optimizing nitrogen management in food and production and environmental protection. 2nd Int. Nitrogen Conf. Papers, Potomac, MD. 14–18 Oct. 2001. A.A. Balkema Publ., Lisse/Abingdon/Exton/Tokyo.
- Snapp, S.S., S.M. Swinton, R. Labarta, D. Mutch, J.R. Black, R. Leep, J. Nyiraneza, and K. O'Neil. 2005. Evaluating cover crops for benefits, costs and performance within cropping system niches. Agron. J. 97:322-332.
- Stinner, D.H., I. Glick, and B.R. Stinner. 1992. Forage legumes and cultural sustainability: lessons from history. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment. 40:233-248.
- Stivers-Young, L.J., and F.A. Tucker. 1999. Cover cropping practices of vegetables producers in western New York. Hort Technol. 9:459–465.
- Sumner, D.R., G.J. Gascho, A.W. Johnson, J.E. Hook, and E.D. Treadgill. 1990. Root diseases, populations of soil fungi, and yield decline in continuous double-crop corn. Plant Dis. 74:704-710.
- Sundquist, W.B., K.M. Menz, and C. F. Neumeyer. 1989. A technology assessment of commercial corn production in the United States. Agricultural Experiment Station. Bull. 546. Univ. of Minnesota. Minneapolis, MN.
- Tanaka, D.L., A. Bauer, and A. L. Black. 1997. Annual legume cover crops in spring wheatfallow systems. J. Prod. Agric. 10:251-255.
- Teasdale, J.R. 1996. Contribution of cover crops to weed management in sustainable agricultural systems. J. of Prod. Agric. 9:475-479.
- Teasdale, J.R., C.B. Coffman, and R.W. Mangum. 2007. Potential long-term benefits of notillage and organic cropping systems for grain production and soil improvement. Agron. J. 99:1297-1305.
- Undersander, D., N. Martin, D. Cosgrove, K. Kelling, M. Schmitt, J. Wedberg, R. Becker, C. Grau, J. Doll, and M. E. Rice. 2004. Alfalfa Management Guide. ASA, CSSA, ASSS. Diane Publishing Company. Madison, WI.
- USDA NRCS. United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2016. https://plants.usda.gov/java/. (Web accessed 2016).

- Vyn, T.Y., K.J. Janovicek, M.H. Miller, and E.G. Beauchamp. 1999. Soil nitrate accumulation and corn response to preceding small-grain fertilization and cover crops. Agron. J. 91:17– 24
- Vyn, T.Y., J.G. Faber, K.J. Janovicek, and E.G. Beauchamp. 2000. Cover crop effects on nitrogen availability to corn following wheat. Agron. J. 92:915-924.
- Waldron, L. J., and S. Dakessian, S. 1982. Effect of grass, legume, and tree roots on soil shearing resistance. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 46:894-899.
- Weinert, T.L., W.L. Pan, M.R. Moneymaker, G.S. Santo, and R.G. Stevens. 2002. Nitrogen recycling by non-leguminous winter crops to reduce leaching in potato rotations. Agron. J. 94:365–372.
- White K.D. 1970. Fallowing, crop rotation and crop yield in Roman times. Agric. Hist. 44:281–290.
- Wilson, R.E., E.H. Jensen, and G.C.J. Fernandez. 1992. Seed germination response for eleven forage cultivars of brassica to temperature. Agron. J. 84:200-202.
- Wolfenbarger, L. L., and A.P. Phifer. 2000. The ecological risks and benefits of genetically engineered plants. Science (Washington, DC). 290:2088-2093.
- Wrage, N., J. Strodthoff, H.M. Cuchillo, J. Isselstein, and M. Kayser. 2011. Phytodiversity of temperate permanent grasslands: ecosystem services for agriculture and livestock management for diversity conservation. Biodiversity and Conservation. 20:3317-3339.
- Wyland, L.J., L.E. Jackson, W.E. Chaney, K. Klonsky, S.T. Koike, and B. Kimple. 1998. Winter cover crops in a vegetable cropping system: Impacts on nitrate leaching, soil water, crop yield, pests and management costs. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 59:1–17.
- Young, A., E. Creech, D. ZoBell, C. Israelsen, and J. Eun. 2014. Integrating teff into livestock operations. Utah State Univ. Ext., Paper 626. Logan, Utah, USA. Pp. 1-3.
- Zentner, R.P., D.D. Wall, C.N. Nagy, E.G. Smith, D.L. Young, P.R. Miller, C.A. Campbell, B. G. McConkey, S.A. Brandt, G.P. Lafond, A. M. Johnson, D.A. Derksen, 2002.
 Economics of crop diversification and soil tillage opportunities in the Canadian prairies. Agron. J. 94:216–23
- Zhang, B., C.F. Drury, X. Yang, D. Reynolds, and X. Zhang. 2014. Crop rotation, red clover and cropping history influences microbial amino sugars of a clay loam soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 78:818-824.
CHAPTER 2

USING COVER CROPS IN WHEAT-CORN ROTATIONS TO PROVIDE FORAGE WHILE IMPROVING SOIL

ABSTRACT

The time window after wheat harvest in a wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)- corn (Zea mays L.) rotation could be used to grow cover crops (CC) to provide forage while protecting soil from erosion. However, the impact of forage harvest on soil fertility and sequential crop growth is not well quantified. Field experiments were initiated in East Lansing, MI to determine the consequences of partial removal of CC biomass on soil improvement and crop yield and quality. Soft red winter wheat ('Hopewell' and 'Red Dragon') was planted in October of 2013 and 2014 and harvested in July 2014 and 2015. Cover crops included: frost-seeded red clover, and summer-seeded alfalfa, cowpea, sunn hemp, radish, oat/field pea mixture, sudangrass, sorghum x sudangrass, and teffgrass. Half of each CC plot was mechanically harvested eight weeks after planting. Harvested forage dry matter yield was greatest for red clover (4.3 Mg ha⁻¹); oat-pea mix (2.5 Mg ha^{-1}) , sudangrass/sudex (1.8 Mg ha^{-1}) and radish (1.2 Mg ha^{-1}) (P < 0.01) yielded less. Corn grain yield harvested in October averaged 13.7 Mg ha⁻¹ and did not differ across CC species or forage harvest treatment (P > 0.05). Harvesting forage reduced total N removal (TNR) in subsequent corn for red clover only; harvesting forage did not affect TNR after any other CC (CC x harvest interaction, P < 0.05). In the harvested system, TNR did not differ (P > 0.05) between red clover (297 kg ha⁻¹) and oat-pea mix (284 kg ha⁻¹), but unharvested RCL (374 kg ha⁻¹) ¹) had greater (P < 0.01) TNR than oat-pea mix (338 kg ha⁻¹). There were no differences among treatments for soil permanganate oxidizable carbon POXC (P > 0.05). Harvesting cover crops for

forage after winter wheat harvest in Michigan can give harvestable forage and acceptable nutritive value.

INTRODUCTION

Total farm and crop acreages are decreasing, NASS (2012a) reported a long-term decline of farms, 2.5 million farms in 1982 to 2.1 million in 2012. Farmland acres are decreasing as shown in a five-year period, 922.1 in 2007 to 914.4 million acres in 2012, which is a 0.8% decline of farmland acres (NASS, 2012a). With this decline, forage acres are in a decreasing by 9% in the 2007-2012 five-year period (NASS, 2012a). Nationally, there is a total of 55.7 million acres for harvested forage, land used for all hay and all haylage, grass silage, and greenchop, in 2012 in the United States (NASS, 2012b). Additionally, there were a total of 17.5 million milk cows (NASS, 2012e) and a total of 53.6 million beef cattle in the United States in 2012 (NASS, 2012f) which is a decline from 2007, 0.1% and 0.4% respectively, (NASS, 2012a).

With forage land on the long-term decline, forage crops are still needed to provide feed for animals. Even though cattle numbers are declining, it is not as drastic as the decline of forage acres. The increased demand for food requires a change to be made (Piorr, 2003). Cover crops (CC) could provide an additional benefit to farmers, not only as a CC, but as a harvestable forage to be used for livestock production therefore possibly increasing the economic value for CC and their adoption on farms. U.S. Department of Agriculture's 2012 Census of Agriculture reported 10.3 million acres of CC planted in 2012 (NASS, 2012g). SARE (2016) reported a steady increase in the number of planted to CC acres from 2010-2015, and predicted a continued increase in acreage. Using CC can help improve farm sustainability by providing a cover before and after row crops such as corn (Teasdale, 1996; SARE, 2016). Adding CC to crop rotations takes advantage of resources provided by the soil, sun and water (Andraski and Bundy 2005; Wortman et al. 2012) while improving soil health and structure (Pimentel et al., 1995; Andraski

and Bundy 2005; Clark, 2007) thus benefiting by protecting against soil erosion or loss (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002; Andraski and Bundy 2005), scavenging of nutrients that would otherwise be unavailable or leached (Ranells and Wagger, 1997; Clark, 2007), holding and cleaning water (Hartwig and Ammon, 2002), and providing nitrogen to the cash crop planted subsequently (Decker et at., 1994; Pimentel et al., 1995; Andraski and Bundy, 2005). Additionally, adding value to CC as harvested forage may help mitigate added costs of buying cover seed and planting it (Snapp et al., 2005), thus encouraging farmers to use CC after small grains, such as wheat (Tanaka et al., 1996; Angus et al.2015), though there is little to no information on the effects of harvesting CC as forage on CC benefits.

The typical fallow period from mid-summer harvest of winter wheat to planting of the subsequent crop (usually corn in Michigan) is nine to ten months long (July through May). This includes 90 growing days in the late summer and fall after wheat is harvested in July. The long fallow period leaves soil susceptible to water and wind erosion, allows loss of N and C from the system, and encourages weed proliferation (Snapp and Mutch, 2003). Farmers in Michigan and the upper Midwest have frost-seeded red clover into wheat in late March or early April for many years, providing a cover on the soil following wheat harvest that fixes nitrogen (Vyn et al., 1999; Snapp et al., 2005). Alternatively, a farmer could harvest wheat and then plant a cover crop to improve soil health (Snapp et al., 2005), fix nitrogen for the next row crop in the rotation (Tanaka et al., 1997), and provide a harvestable double crop of forage (Snapp and Mutch, 2003). Farmers are uncertain which cover crops planted in or after wheat would have the greatest potential for return on investment under Upper Midwest growing conditions, and if any of these cover crops would be advantageous compared to red clover seeded into the growing wheat crop in early spring. Additionally, farmers have questions concerning the harvesting of red clover or

other cover crops for forage. Would forage harvest adversely affect soil organic matter (SOM) accumulation and future crop productivity and yield (Snapp et al., 2005)? Finally, cover crops which survive winter including red clover, require a termination operation, thus increasing expense or delaying spring planting. Annual legumes or other covers that do not survive Michigan winters might be able to provide similar benefits as red clover without the added expense of termination.

Choice of CC or forage species is dependent on the location and the specific benefits desired by the producer. A single species will not provide all possible benefits, so species should be chosen with specific goals in mind. Our selection criteria for potential forage double-cropping with wheat in Michigan were the ability to establish during hot, dry weather in July and August, acceptable forage nutritive value at harvest, maintenance of winter ground cover, natural winterkill to avoid the cost of spring termination, and maintenance or improvement of subsequent corn grain yield and quality. Red clover (Trifolium pratense L.) served as the positive control treatment. Non-dormant alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) can provide high quality forage within 60 days after a late summer planting and should winterkill (Barnes et al, 1988; Pfarr, 1988; Sheaffer et at., 1988; Sheaffer et al., 1989; Sheaffer et al., 1992). Heat-tolerant legumes like sunn hemp (Crotalaria juncea L.) and cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.] have been used as forage crops as far north as Virginia (Schomberg et al., 2007), but not tested for forage use in Michigan. Oat/field pea (Avena sativa L./Pisum sativum L.) mixtures are an accepted annual forage crop in Michigan (Johnson et al., 1998). Brown-midrib cultivars of the warm-season grasses sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) and sorghum x sudangrass [S. bicolor x S. bicolor (Piper) Stapf] hybrids, popularly called sudex, accumulate biomass quickly in summer and have superior fiber digestibility, compared to other warm-season grasses, that simultaneously makes them valuable

as a forage (Cherney et al., 1991) and increases rate of residue decomposition to active organic matter fractions in soil. Warm-season teffgrass [*Eragrostis tef* (Zuccagni) Trotter] reaches harvestable biomass within 60 d after planting in Michigan (Roseberg et al., 2006; Miller, 2009; Young et al., 2014). Finally, oilseed radish is attracting interest as a CC across Michigan. As forage, radish is typically used as pasture (Monjardino et al., 2004) rather than as hay or haylage due to its high moisture content, but it may be a viable haylage crop if grown in combination with a small grain.

With the increasing CC acres and decreasing forge acres, the potential for CC to be double cropped is a viable option and could close the growing gap between available forage and animals. CC diversity can be applicable to different farming types to meet the various needs of farmers and CCs double-cropped as a forage can provide feed for various animal types. CC, with growing application and acres, will grow shorter time periods of the growing season allowing farmers to gain CC benefits, double-cropping benefits and still allow cash crops to grow without impediment. Given the interesting potential opportunity to use CC as a double-crop, a forage, our objectives were: 1) determine whether harvesting CC planted after wheat could provide useful forage yields and nutritive value, (2) determine whether specific CC species change labile soil organic matter, soil C, or soil N, and (3) determine how partial removal of CC biomass affects corn grain and stover yield and quality.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Site Description

This research was conducted at the Michigan State University Agronomy Farm, East Lansing, Michigan (42°42'N, 84°28'W, elevation 262 m) on two adjacent fields. Soil taxonomy and initial fertility characteristics for rotation sequences initiated in 2013 and 2014 were: 2013, Capac silt loam (fine-loamy, mixed, active, mesic Aquic Glossudalfs), pH 7.3, 110 g kg⁻¹ P, and 1100 g kg⁻¹ K, 30 g kg⁻¹ soil organic matter (SOM); 2014, Brookston silt loam (fine-loamy, mixed, superactive, mesic Typic Argiaquolls), pH 7.0, 300 g kg⁻¹ P, and 2080 g kg⁻¹ K, 35 g kg⁻¹ SOM. Monthly total precipitation, minimum, average, and maximum monthly air temperature, soil temperature and moisture (10 cm depth), and growing degree days (GDD, 5°C base for alfalfa/CC and 10°C base for corn) data were obtained from a weather station located within 1 km of the research site (MAWN, 2016). Twenty-five-year weather norms were obtained from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA, 2016).

Experimental Design

The cropping system was a no-till rotation consisting of winter wheat-cover crop-corn. The rotation sequence was initiated in 2013 and again in 2014 for a total of two independent siteyear sequences (first-year and second-year). Fields used for first-year and second-year were immediately adjacent to each other. The experimental design was a randomized compete block (RCBD) with four replications and a split plot treatment arrangement. The main plots were ten CC treatments: fallow, red clover frost-seeded (RCL), and alfalfa, cowpea, oat/pea mix (OPmix), oilseed radish (Radish), sunn hemp, sudangrass (SUD), sudex (SDX), and teffgrass (Teff) seeded

no-till following wheat harvest. The subplots were two CC harvest treatments (NH—not harvested, or H— harvested). Plots measured 3 x 7 m for first-yearand 3 x 8 m for second-year. *Crop Management*

Soft red winter wheat was planted at 168 kg ha⁻¹ on 29 October 2013 (cultivar 'Hopewell') and 20 September 2014 (cultivar 'Red Dragon') to begin the rotation in each year. Wheat was harvested 21 July 2014 and 23 July 2015 using plot combines (SPC40 and SPC20 in 2014 and 2015, respectively, Almaco Co., Nevada, Iowa). No CC were planted on the negative control fallow plots. To allow assessment of volunteer wheat as a "cover crop," volunteer wheat was not controlled in untreated volunteer wheat (UTVW) fallow subplots, but was removed from fallow subplots through application of glyphosate at 5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ plus 4 kg ha⁻¹ ammonium sulfate on 13 September 2015 and 20 August 2015. The red clover was frost-seeded into wheat using a hand-pulled drop spreader on 28 March 2014 and 18 March 2015. All other CC treatments were seeded into wheat stubble at a row spacing of 19 cm on 4 August 2014 and 27 July 2015 using a no-till drill (Great Plains Manufacturing, Inc., Salina, KS). The CC seeding rates and varieties are given in Table 1. The H treatment was harvested approximately 60 days after planting using a flail-type forage plot harvester (Carter MFG CO., Inc. Brookston, IN) at a stubble height of 10 cm. Post-harvest regrowth in the harvested cover crop treatments was left in place over the winter; the entire biomass remained overwinter in the NH treatments. Two weeks prior to corn planting, weeds and overwintering CC were terminated with an application of 5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ glyphosate plus 4 kg ha⁻¹ ammonium sulfate. Corn (Dekalb 'DKC44-13RIB,' glyphosate resistant) was no-tilled into each plot at a row spacing of 75 cm (four corn rows per subplot) on 1 May 2015 and 9 May 2016. Corn plots were sprayed twice with glyphosate at a rate of 5 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ plus 4 kg ha⁻¹ ammonium sulfate during the early growing season to control weeds. All corn

plots were fertilized according to fall soil test results (see soil measurements) and nutrient recommendations for crops in Michigan (Warncke et al., 2009). Wheat plots were fertilized with 101 kg ha⁻¹ of N. Corn was fertilized with a 100 kg ha⁻¹ of K at the time of corn planting and a recommend (MRTN 2016) 84 kg ha⁻¹ of N (UAN 28%), was knifed in at the V4 corn stage on all plots for each year.

Measurements

Wheat and corn grain yields were measured using weigh functions on the respective plot combines. Grain samples were taken at harvest for each plot by placing grain in a cloth bag and then were tested for grain moisture content. Grain moisture content from subsamples was determined using a grain analysis scanner (Model No. GAC 2100, Dicky-John, Co., Auburn, Illinois), and grain yield was corrected to standard moisture levels of 13.5%. At CC harvest, subsamples were obtained for nutritive value and botanical composition analyses. The CC harvest consisted of recording a fresh weight from each harvested plot using a flail type harvester (Carter MFG CO., Inc. Brookston, IN) which harvested 10 cm above ground. Subsamples of harvested herbage were collected from the fresh weight sample at random with approximately 4-6 hand samples, per plot, placed in paper bags and were dried in a forced air dryer for 3 days at 60 C, and used to calculate moisture at harvest and correct forage yield to a DM basis. Botanical composition samples were taken directly after CC harvest from 60 cm of remaining row along the harvested strip, selected so each sample was representative of the whole plot. Nutritive value samples were then ground sequentially in Wiley (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ) and UDY (UDY Corporation, Fort Collins, Co.) mills with 4- and 1-mm screens.

Forage quality samples were analyzed for crude protein (CP), neutral detergent fiber (NDF), and acid detergent fiber (ADF). The percent of nitrogen (N) and total carbon (C) was

determined by dry combustion, using a Costech-elemental combustion system (Model No. Costech ECS 4010 and Zero Blank Autosampler, Costech Analytical Technologies Inc., Valencia, CA). The CP was calculated by multiplying percent of N by 6.25 (Conklin-Brittain et al., 1999).

Percentages of NDF and ADF were determined sequentially using the procedures of Goering and Van Soest (1970); however, sodium sulfite was not used in the NDF analysis per the recommendation of Van Soest and Robertson (1980). An ANKOM Fiber analyzer (Model No. 200, Ankom Technology, Fairport, NY) and F57 25-micron porosity Fiber Filter Bags (Ankom Technology, Fairport, NY) were used to conduct NDF and ADF analysis.

A visual estimate of ground cover components, which included volunteer wheat, bare ground, weeds, and CC, was taken biweekly starting on 10 September 2014 and 11 August 2015 after CC planting. The percent of each ground cover component was determined by the same observer using visual estimation in three 1.2-m^2 quadrats per plot, and averaged. Visual ratings were obtained by dividing the quadrat into four sections, each equaling 25% of the area. When the quadrat was placed on the plots, a visual estimation of the components in each section was taken at 5% increments starting at zero and added together to equal 100%. Spring ground cover was also visually estimated biweekly beginning 13 April 2015 and 18 April 2016 and ending approximately 4 weeks after corn planting. A corn category was added to the cover components after corn was planted. Plant canopy height, for both CC and corn, was measured using a meter stick at the same time as cover measurements. Canopy height was recorded from three plants and averaged per 1.2-m^2 quadrat. Corn population and height was taken in May 2015 and June 2016 by measuring three meters of the two middle rows of each plot. To further analyze the ground cover, CC and volunteer wheat mix (planted CC + volunteer wheat), live cover (planted CC + volunteer wheat + weeds) and total cover (crop + volunteer wheat + weeds + residue/straw) groups were created and analyzed.

Three corn ear leaf samples were randomly taken at the V12 stage during 27 July 2015 and 8 August 2016 from each plot. SPAD meter readings were taken using PhotosynQ (Venturit, Inc., East Lansing, MI) meters in 22 July 2015 and 3 August 2016 to determine light interception, plant stress, and potential corn yield. On 9 October 2015 and 7 October 2016, 60 cm of the yield rows of corn for each plot was hand-harvested for grain. On 12-13 October 2015 and 11 October 2016, stover was harvested from the same yield rows. Corn ear samples were placed in cloth bags, dried in a forced air oven for 24 h at 60 C, and shelled in a corn sheller (John Deere, Co., Moline, IL). Corn stover biomass was measured by cutting stalks from two row-feet of the center two rows at ~45cm above the base, and recording fresh weight and number of stalks. Corn stalks were then chopped in a yard-scale wood chipper and subsampled. Subsamples were dried in a forced air oven at 60 C for 3 days to determine DM percentage and allow calculation of dry stover biomass. The remaining corn in plots was mechanically harvested using a Massey Ferguson Combine (AGCO Co., Duluth, GA) with HarvestMaster (Juniper Systems and HarvestMaster, Logan, UT) software which provided yield and moisture content. The hand-sampled grain yields were added to machine-harvested yields to give total grain yield per plot.

All corn grain and stover samples were subsampled for N analysis and ground in Wiley (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ) and UDY (UDY Corporation, Fort Collins, Co.) mills with 4- and 1 mm screens, respectively. Corn ear leaf samples were subsampled for N analysis and ground in a twenty-centimeter lab mill (Christy Turner Ltd., Suffolk, England). Nitrogen content of corn grain, stover, and ear leaf was determined by using the Costech-elemental combustion

system (Model No. Costech ECS 4010, Costech Analytical Technologies Inc., Valencia, CA) and methods as previously described.

Soil samples were taken from each plot on 15 Nov. 2014 for the first-year plots; 30 Oct. 2015 for the second-year plots (15-cm depth, 10 to 12 cores composited per plot per sampling date). The soil samples were crumbled by hand, and air dried for a week. A 100-g subsample was analyzed for pH (2:1 water: soil) (Crowther, 1925), Mehlich III available K₂O, available P (Mehlich III corrected to report as Bray) (Bray and Kurtz, 1945), Mehlich III cation exchange capacity (Mehlich, 1984), and soil organic matter (SOM) by the loss on ignition method (Walkley and Black, 1934) at a commercial soil analysis laboratory (A and L Great Lakes Laboratories, Fort Wayne, IN). Soil concentration of C and N was determined on the soil samples obtained from each plot after CC harvest on 15 Nov. 2014 and 30 Oct. 2015. A 5-g subsample was oven dried at 60 C for 24 h, and placed in glass vials with stainless steel hexagonal tumblers (Mavco Industries, Inc. Science Hill, Kentucky), 3.8-cm height, 1.2-cm diameter, 30.6 g, and ground using a SampleTek Model 200 Vial Rotator roller mill (Mavco Industries, Inc., Science Hill, Kentucky). The soil samples (15-20 mg) were weighed on a Sartorius Cubis Ultra microbalance (Sartorius AG, Göttingen, Germany) and soil C and N concentrations were determined using a Costech-elemental combustion system (Model No. Costech ECS 4010, Costech Analytical Technologies Inc., Valencia, CA).

Procedure for determining permanganate oxidizable carbon (POXC) was conducted on 2014 and 2015 fall soil samples, after CC harvest. All POXC analyses were based on Weil et al. (2003) but modified slightly as described by Culman et al. (2012). Briefly, 2.5 g of air-dried soil were weighed into polypropylene 50-mL screw-top centrifuge tubes. To each tube, 18 mL of deionized water and 2 mL of 0.2 M KMnO4 stock solution were added and tubes were shaken

for exactly 2 min (240 rpm), allowed to settle for exactly 10 min. After 10 min, 0.5 mL of the supernatant were transferred into a second 50-mL centrifuge tube and mixed with 49.5 mL of deionized water. An aliquot (200 μ L) of each sample was loaded into a 96-well plate containing a set of internal standards, including a blank of deionized water, four standard stock solutions (0.00005, 0.0001, 0.00015, and 0.0002 mol L⁻¹ KMnO4), a soil standard and a solution standard. All standards and soil samples were replicated on a separate 96-well plate. Sample absorbance was read with a SpectraMax M5 spectrophotometer at 550 nm. Permanganate oxidizable C was determined following Weil et al. (2003) equation:

POXC [mg kg⁻¹ soil] = $[0.02 \text{ mol } L^{-1} - (a+b+Abs)]x$

(9000 mg C mol⁻¹)(0.02 L solution Wt⁻¹)

Where

0.02 mol L-1 is the concentration of the initial KMnO4 solution,

a is the intercept and b is the slope of the standard curve,

Abs is the absorbance of the unknown soil sample,

9000 mg is the amount of C oxidized by 1 mol of MnO4 changing from Mn7+ to Mn4+,

0.02 L is the volume of KMnO4 solution reacted, and

Wt is the mass of soil (kg) used in the reaction

Statistical Analysis

Data was analyzed using PROC MIXED in SAS Version 9.4 (SAS, Inc, Cary, NC). Fixed variables were CC and harvest treatments, and random variables were site-years (SY) and blocks. Means for CC and CC x harvest interactions were compared using single degree of freedom contrasts, with group contrasts constructed for legumes (LEG: RCL and OPmix), SUD and SDX (SUD/SDX), warm-season grasses (WSG: SUD, SDX, and Teff), and failed CC (FCC:

alfalfa, cowpea, and sunnhemp). Fallow treatment was compared to the RCL-NH, all other not harvested treatments, and all harvested treatments. Unless otherwise stated, a trend was declared at P<0.10, and significance was declared at P<0.05.

RESULTS

Weather

Mean air temperatures were cooler than normal from Jan. to Apr. in 2014 and 2015 while wheat crops were growing in the first phase of rotation for each site-year (Figure 1a). It was also unusually cool during July 2014 immediately before CC were planted. During the CC growth period from Aug. to Sept. in both site-years, precipitation was near or greater than normal (Figure 1b), and mean air temperature was near the 25-year average. During the corn rotation phases in 2015 and 2016, precipitation was slightly below normal in June and July 2015, and greatly below normal in June and July 2016. Mean air temperature was near normal throughout the corn growth period in both site years. While CC were growing between 1 August to 31 November, there were 1126 GDD in 2014 and 1407 GDD in 2015 (MAWN, 2016). For the corn rotation, there were 2705 GDD between 1 May and 31 October in 2014 and 2909 for the same period in 2015 (MAWN, 2016). The 20-year GDD averages (1995-2015) were 1233 GDD for the CC period and 2642 GDD for corn (MAWN, 2016).

Wheat Performance

Wheat grain yield averaged 4.09 and 6.21 Mg ha⁻¹ in 2014 and 2015, respectively. Frostseeded red clover did not affect wheat grain yield (P > 0.05) in either site-year.

Botanical Composition

Because some CC treatments failed to establish successfully, botanical composition of harvested CC (Figure 2a, 2b) is presented separately for each site-year to document our criteria for setting contrast comparisons among treatments. Successful CC were defined as achieving at least 20% of biomass DM in harvested plots. Red clover (RCL), oat/pea mix (OPmix),

sudangrass (SUD), and sudex (SDX) were successful in achieving over 20% of biomass in both site-years. However, alfalfa, cowpea and sunn hemp failed to reach 20% of biomass in the first-year (Figure 2a) and alfalfa, cowpea, sunn hemp, radish, and teffgrass failed to reach it in the second-year (Figure 2b). Because alfalfa, cowpea, and sun hemp treatments failed in both site-years, they were grouped into a single contrast designated as failed CC (FCC) and presented as such for all subsequent discussions. The FCC treatment consisted primarily of volunteer wheat, which was present to some degree in most plots.

Botanical composition of harvested forage is presented in Figure 2. Botanical composition of harvested forage from RCL plots did not differ from OPmix for any component (P > 0.10). Botanical composition did not differ between SUD and SDX for any component (P > 0.10). Botanical composition did not differ between SUD and SDX for any component (P > 0.10). Harvested biomass contained a greater (P < 0.01) proportion of CC for RCL (85%) than SUD/SDX (57%), FCC group (8%), or radish (31%). The LEG group contained a greater (P < 0.01) proportion of harvested CC biomass (79%) than the WSG group (45%). Harvested biomass of RCL (2%) contained less (P < 0.01) volunteer wheat than SUD/SDX (28%), FCC group (63%) or radish (43%). Harvested biomass percentage of the weed component did not differ among treatments (P > 0.10). The proportion of wheat straw in harvested biomass did not exceed 4% for any treatment.

Ground Cover

Ground cover percentages for botanical components at four key points in the rotation sequence are presented in Figure 3. Because the harvest treatment had not yet been applied, there were no harvest or CC x harvest effects 8 wk after CC planting (P > 0.05, Figure 3A). Across treatments, planted CC covered more ground (P < 0.01) for RCL (97%) than OPmix (49%), SUD/SDX (48%), Radish (51%) or the FCC group (21%). In contrast, volunteer wheat covered

less ground (P < 0.02) in RCL treatments (2%) than OPmix (41%), SUD/SDX (40%), Radish (34%) or the FCC group (63%). CC covered more ground (P < 0.01) in the legume group (73%) than for the WSG group (39%), while volunteer wheat cover (21%) was less (P < 0.05) for legume then WSG (63%). Volunteer wheat covered less ground (P < 0.01) in the fallow treatment (6%) than in all other treatments (49%). Weed cover was less (P < 0.01) for RCL (1%) than the FCC group (6%). The sum of CC and VW was greater (P < 0.05) for RCL (98%) than SUD/SDX (88%), Radish (86%) and the FCC (92%) treatments. Live cover and total cover did not differ among treatments (P > 0.05)

Four weeks following CC harvest (Figure 3B), a CC x harvest interaction existed (P < 0.05) for all ground cover components except straw and live cover. The interaction (P < 0.02) indicated that ground cover of summed CC and VW was greater (P < 0.02) for RCL-NH (97%) than Radish-NH, Radish-H (74% and 55%, respectively) and FCC-NH, FCC-H (66% and 58%, respectively) treatments. Live cover did not differ among treatments (P > 0.05). Harvesting CC reduced residue cover across all treatments (P < 0.01).

Overwintering of CC and soil cover was assessed two weeks before corn planting (Figure 3C). There were CC x harvest interactions for CC, volunteer wheat, residue, and summed live plant components of ground cover (P < 0.01), but not for weeds or total ground cover of live plants plus residues (P > 0.10). The only CC that survived the winter was RCL regardless of harvest treatment and a few alfalfa plants in the FCC-H group. Volunteer wheat survived the winter on all CC treatments except RCL. Harvesting RCL the previous fall increased spring CC and live ground cover (P < 0.01) compared to not harvesting. Harvesting forage increased spring volunteer wheat cover for OPmix, teff, FCC group, and SUD/SDX plots (P < 0.05). Weed cover was less (P < 0.01) for RCL (10%) than for OPmix (18%), SUD/SDX (16%), Radish (16%) or

the FCC group (16%). Weed cover was greater (P < 0.05) in the fallow treatment (27%) than in all NH (14%), harvested (16%) and RCL-NH (10%) treatments.

The only CC that survived to one month after corn planting (Figure 3D) was RCL (mean 26% ground cover) and a few alfalfa plants in the FCC group (< 1% ground cover). There were no CC x harvest interactions for any ground cover component at this time point (P > 0.05). Ground cover of the surviving CC was not affected by harvest (P > 0.05). Across harvest treatments, live and total cover was greater while residue cover was less (P < 0.05) for RCL than OPmix, SUD/SDX, Radish or the FCC group. Residue cover was greater (P < 0.05) for fallow (45%) than for RCL-NH (38%), but less (P < 0.05) than all NH (53%) treatments.

Plant Canopy Height

Plant canopy height, is presented in Figure 4. Eight weeks after CC planting, SUD had the tallest plant canopy averaging 501 mm and was different from SDX at 389 mm (P < 0.01). Plant canopy height was taller (P < 0.01) for RCL (491 mm) than for radish (227 mm) and FCC (406 mm) treatments. Plant canopy height was lower (P < 0.02) for fallow compared with all CC plots that were not harvested CC (368 mm), all harvested CC (366 mm) and RCL-NH (490 mm) treatments. Four weeks after CC harvest, a CC x harvest interaction existed (P < 0.01). The treatment x harvest interaction (P < 0.01) indicated harvesting forages reduced plant canopy height in regrowth, but there were no differences between any CC (P > 0.10) in the harvested system. In the no harvested system, OPmix regrowth (573 mm) was taller than RCL (396 mm) and SUD (459 mm) was taller (P < 0.01) than SDX (385 mm). Corn plant canopy height, taken as part of the visual pre- and post- corn planting corn evaluations, did not differ among treatments (P > 0.10).

Harvested Forage Yield, Nutritive Value, and C, N Content

Forage dry matter yield, presented in Figure 5, was greatest (P < 0.01) for RCL (4.3 Mg ha⁻¹) than OPmix (2.5 Mg ha⁻¹), SUD/SDX (1.8 Mg ha⁻¹), Radish (1.2 Mg ha⁻¹) and the FCC (1.4 Mg ha⁻¹) treatments. The SUD and SDX yield was not significantly different (P < 0.10). Forage dry matter yield was greater (P < 0.01) for the legume group (3.4 Mg ha⁻¹) than the WSG group (1.6 Mg ha⁻¹). Average harvested yield over all CC treatments was 2.0 Mg ha⁻¹.

Nutritive composition of harvested CC is presented in Table 2. The CC species differed (P < 0.01) in moisture concentration at harvest. The RCL treatment (754 g kg⁻¹) had a greater (P < 0.01) moisture concentration than the FCC (631 g kg⁻¹) group. Moisture concentration at harvest was greatest for the Legume group (763 g kg⁻¹) than the WSG group (687 g kg⁻¹). Concentrations of NDF were least (P < 0.02) for RCL (586 g kg⁻¹) than for SUD/SDX (675 g kg⁻¹) and the FCC (645 g kg⁻¹) treatments. Concentrations of ADF and ash did not differ among any treatments (P > 0.10). Concentration of CP was greater (P < 0.04) for RCL (144 g kg⁻¹) than OPmix (107 g kg⁻¹), SUD/SDX (85 g kg⁻¹), Radish (108 g kg⁻¹), and the FCC (100 g kg⁻¹) treatments. The legume group had a greater (P < 0.01) concentration of CP (126 g kg⁻¹) than the WSG group (92 g kg⁻¹). The C:N ratio was lowest (P < 0.06) for RCL (19); SUD/SDX was 33, radish 32, and FCC 22. Nitrogen (N) concentrations mirrored the CP results presented in Table 2. *Corn Performance*

Corn grain and stover yields are presented in Table 3. Corn grain yield averaged 12.7 Mg ha⁻¹ and were not affected by harvesting CC as forage (P > 0.05). Corn stover biomass averaged 13. 6 Mg/ha⁻¹ and was not affected by CC or harvest treatments (P > 0.10). Results for N concentration of corn ear leaf are presented in Table 4. Corn ear leaf N concentration were

affected by CC harvest (P < 0.06), but contrasts found no differences between treatments (P > 0.10).

Results for N concentration and C:N ratio of corn grain and stover are presented in Table 4. Corn grain N concentration was greatest (P < 0.04) for RCL (18 g kg⁻¹) than OPmix (15 g kg⁻¹), SUD/SDX (16 g kg⁻¹), Radish (15 g kg⁻¹), and the FCC (15 g kg⁻¹) treatments. Legume and WSG corn grain N concentration did not differ (P > 0.10). Corn grain N concentration was less (P < 0.05) for the fallow (13 g kg⁻¹) treatment than for all not harvested (16 g kg⁻¹) and harvested (15 g kg⁻¹) CC and RCL-NH (20 g kg⁻¹). Corn stover N concentration was greatest (P < 0.01) for RCL (11 g kg⁻¹) than OPmix (8 g kg⁻¹), SUD/SDX (9 g kg⁻¹), Radish (9 g kg⁻¹), and the FCC (10 g kg⁻¹) treatments. Corn stover N concentration was less (P < 0.05) for the fallow (9 g kg⁻¹) treatment than for RCL-NH (11 g kg⁻¹). Corn stover C:N ratio was less (P < 0.01) for RCL (43) than OPmix (54), SUD/SDX (53), Radish (48), and the FCC (49) treatments. The fallow treatment did not differ from any other treatments (P > 0.10).

Total N removed (TNR) in corn grain and stover results are presented in Table 4. The treatment x harvest interaction (P < 0.01) indicated that harvesting forage reduced total N removal in the subsequent corn for RCL but not for OPmix, SUD/SDX, radish and the FCC treatments. In the harvested system, TNR did not differ (P > 0.05) between RCL (297 kg N/ha⁻¹) and OPmix (284 kg N/ha⁻¹), but unharvested RCL (374 kg N/ha⁻¹) had greater (P < 0.01) TNR than OPmix (338 kg N/ha⁻¹), but not greater (P > 0.10) than SUD/SDX (349 kg N/ha⁻¹) and the FCC (349 kg N/ha⁻¹) treatments.

Photosynthetic data collected using the PhotosynQ system did not reveal useful data, possibly because of the beta-testing status of the instrument. Data are included in Appendix B.

Soil Assessment

There were no main effect or interactions for POXC (Figure 6, P > 0.05) or for concentration of soil C, soil N concentration, and soil C:N ratio (Table 5, P > 0.05). There was a trend (P < 0.10) for an interaction in POXC between Radish and RCL, whereby harvesting forage increased POXC under Radish but decreased it under RCL.

DISCUSSION

In 2013 to 2014 winter months, the air temperature was much colder than usual, resulting in winter kill and yield reduction of wheat in 2014. Though air temperature and precipitation followed the 25-year norms, growing degree days (GDD) were low in the summer of 2014. The first-year had 1126 GDD versus the following year, which had 1407 GDD (MAWN 2016). The first-year GDD days were 107 GDD lower than the 20-year norms, whereas the second-year GDD had 174 more than the norm. This 281 GDD difference could help explain why alfalfa and especially the warm season CCs cowpea, sunn hemp, and teff, didn't perform as well as expected the first-year. Fick (1984) reported that 720 GDD were required, in a perennial cropping system, for alfalfa (average of nine cultivars) to reach first flower at the first cutting in Ithaca, NY. 'Hi Nitro' alfalfa has been tested and shown to give high quality feed and useful yields in 60 days (Pfarr, 1988; Sheaffer et al., 1988; Sheaffer et al., 1989; Sheaffer et al., 1992). However, we found that the 'Hi Nitro' alfalfa did not establish well when planted after wheat harvest, even when there was sufficient GDD. Additionally, sunn hemp, cowpea, and teff did not establish well in one of two years. Possible reasons for this occurrence, despite adequate GDD, could be attributed to volunteer wheat competition, especially in the second site-year, or perhaps the lack of ideal growing conditions, such as high competition from volunteer wheat, for the alfalfa.

Additionally, we looked at precipitation to see if moisture was adequate for cover crop establishment 28 d and 14 d before and 14 and 28 d after cover crop planting. We found that precipitation during these critical time periods was less in the second-year than in the first year of this study. Precipitation averaged >1 mm and 10 mm 28 d and 14 d before cover crop planting, respectively, and averaged 30 mm at both 14 and 28 d after cover crop planting (MAWN 2016). While the second-year precipitation 28 d and 14 d before cover crop planting was higher than the

first-year, averaging at 2 mm and 31 mm respectively while 14 d and 28 d after cover crop planting averaged 68 mm and 34 mm respectively (MAWN 2016). Adequate precipitation and soil moisture is needed for plant establishment (Veihmeyer and Hendrickson, 1950; Stanhill, 1957; Denmead and Shaw, 1962; Lipiec et al., 2013) In our study the low GDD in the first-year combined with the low precipitation before and after cover crop planting, potentially leading to a lower soil moisture content, could have contributed to poor cover crop establishment.

The first-year corn had adequate precipitation and temperatures (2705 GDD). Corn requires about 2700 GDD to reach full maturity (Neild and Newman, 1987), depending on the hybrid, while our hybrid only needed 2350 GDD (Monsanto 2016). Both site-years had sufficient GDD and were above the 20-year GDD norm. The second-year of corn had adequate temperatures and 2909 GDD, but precipitation was much lower than the 25-year norm, putting the site in moderate drought conditions (US Drought Monitor, 2016) and leading to lower overall corn yields. The recommended 84 kg ha-1 of N placed on corn at the V4 stage, was decided because this was the minimum amount to still have adequate corn growth and reach a desired corn yield while also hoping to see cover crop differences on corn grain and stover yield.

Volunteer wheat presented an unanticipated challenge to the experiment, especially in the second-year where greater wheat yields and delayed harvest due to slow grain drying led to considerable shattering of overripe wheat at harvest. Applying glyphosate before CC planting did not control volunteer wheat because it germinated after CC were planted. Volunteer wheat competed with the CC and appeared to limit their growth (Figure 2b). While part of CC success is defined by the ability to suppress weeds (Lal et al., 1991; Reeves, 1994; Smeda et al., 1996; Dabney et al., 2001), wheat can itself be used as a CC (Tyler et al., 1987; Holderbaum et al., 1990; Worsham 1991; Stivers-Young and Tucker, 1999) and makes excellent forage

(Christiansen et al., 1998; Redmon et al., 1995; Pinchak et al., 1996; Ralphs et al., 1997; Epplin et al. 2000; Giunta et al., 2017). Therefore, in this study we simply consider the volunteer wheat to be an additional, unplanned CC grown in mixtures with the planned CC.

Ground cover evaluations were used to determine canopy closure and CC treatment establishment. Most CC treatments reached 80% canopy closure by the time of harvest eight weeks after CC planting; frost-seeded red clover had greater than 95% ground cover at this time (Figure 3A). Creamer et. al (1997) reported 30% canopy closure for thirteen different covers (mainly legumes) by four weeks after planting and 100% by 16 weeks after planting. In our study, volunteer wheat, weeds, and CC all contributed to canopy closure, but the proportion of weed species was relatively low. Plots designated as pure volunteer wheat due to CC failure had canopy closures of 30% eight weeks after CC planting and 60% four weeks after CC harvest (Figures 3A and 3B).

Results provide insight on the ability of different CC to establish after wheat harvest in Michigan and compete with volunteer wheat. Frost-seeded red clover was very competitive with volunteer wheat because of earlier establishment and a longer growth period compared to the other cover crops seeded after wheat harvest (Figure 3). Mutch et al. (2003) and Blaser et al. (2006) reported few weeds in frost-seeded red clover. Teffgrass was not competitive with volunteer wheat in our production system, contradicting research by Aberra (1992), where teffgrass was competitive when nonselective herbicides were applied before sowing. However, the Aberra (1992) study was in a conventional tillage system with different ploughing methods while our study was a no-till system. Volunteer wheat seed would have been buried below the germination zone and then teffgrass seeded shallow after tillage. Habtegebrial et al. (2007) and

Tulema et al. (2008) reported that teffgrass yield was suppressed in reduced tillage systems if weeds were not controlled by herbicide or handweeding.

Suppression of weeds by wheat, alfalfa, oats, sudangrass and red clover CC was reported in New York by vegetable growers (Stivers-Young and Tucker, 1999), and sorghum-sudangrass and oats CC suppressed weeds at a vegetable research station in Arizona (Burgos and Talbert, 1996). In a North Carolina study, sudangrass and sorghum-sudangrass not only suppressed weeds, but produced more biomass than most of the eight CC studied (Creamer and Baldwin, 2000). In our study, sudangrass, sorghum-sudangrass and oat/pea mix treatments as well as the unplanned volunteer wheat "cover crop" suppressed weeds. Additionally, wheat straw residues could have potentially contributed to weed suppression (Putnam and DeFrank, 1983; Barnes and Putnam, 1983; Shilling et al.,1985; Akemo et al., 2000), though this is not always the case (Teasdale and Daughtry, 1993; Akemo et al, 2000). In our study, we saw an increase in weeds after cover crop harvest which could be due to the opening of the plant canopy (Ballaré and Casal, 2000)

Oilseed radish competed successfully with weeds until forage harvest in October, but radish was not competitive with weeds in late October through November because there was little no regrowth from crowns after forage harvest. In our study, the weed cover in oilseed radish averaged 10% and fall weed cover consisted of 11%, which was not a significant change. Stivers-Young (1998) found that oilseed radish was most competitive with weed populations in the fall when planted in early spring due to early canopy development and closure. Stivers-Young (1998) study also showed that spring planted oil seed radish reduced weeds by 40% in the fall compared to other brassicas, kale and turnip, which reduced weeds by 55-65%. In this study, they disked the soil first before seeding CC, thus allowing for quicker radish establishment and

canopy development and the spring planting allowed for a longer growth period, differing from our study. In other field experiments (Lawley et al., 2011) had almost complete weed suppression observed in all 4 site-years in early spring following forage radish, however suppression began to decline by mid-spring, although weed cover was still lower than that in the no cover control. Similarly, in another study, Lawley et al. (2012) found that oilseed radish is most competitive in the fall, when planted and fertilized in late summer. Similarly to the Stivers-Young (1998), Lawley et al., (2011) and Lawley et al. (2012) experiments, we found that oilseed radish, along with volunteer wheat, could suppress weeds sufficiently in the fall before CC harvest but less suppression was observed as the growing season continued into late fall and after CC harvest. The discrepancy between our results and the literature, could be that our study is a no-till cropping system and the radish seeds may not have had optimal conditions for quick growth and establishment (i.e. cooler, darker under the residue, lower soil-seed contact). We found volunteer radish in both site-years of corn plots. This could be related to the lack of optimal growing conditions, high residues, and that radish has a hard seed coat which protects it from germinating in poor conditions. Overall, oilseed radish did not compete as well as other annual CC in our study.

In our research, alfalfa (non-winter-hardy variety), cowpea, and sunn hemp failed to establish enough biomass to be useful as a CC in this system. Several factors may have contributed to this failure, including the unexpectedly cool temperatures, potentially low soil moisture and low GDD in late summer, lack of starter fertilizer at CC planting, large amounts of wheat residue that may have interfered with CC seed placement at planting, and competition from volunteer wheat. We chose not to apply starter fertilizer to CC because we felt farmers would be unlikely to pay to fertilize CC and because we wanted to encourage the N fixation

benefit from our legume covers. However, small amounts of fertilizer can be beneficial to improving CC establishment and growth (Lawley et al., 2012).

We chose to leave wheat straw residue in the field because it could potentially increase SOM, water holding potential, and decrease soil erosion (Mannering and Meyer, 1963; Unger, 1975; Crutchfield et al., 1986); however, large amounts of residue can also decrease successful seed planting and germination (Day, 1968; Crutchfield et al., 1986; Hicks et al., 1989). In our study, CC established successfully on the edges of the plot where straw residues and competition from volunteer wheat was lower--this was noticeable in all treatments except for red clover. Farmers will often remove straw from the field for uses such as roughage in feed, compost, or bedding (Ashfield, 1978; Rynk et al. 1992; Wang et al., 2004). If the straw was removed, it could potentially solve the problem of CC establishment in high residue situations while also providing additional value from the system. Another possible solution is to minimal till or strip-till to create a more suitable seedbed for the CC.

Some degree of volunteer wheat establishment is inevitable after a commercial wheat harvest due to shatter of grain during harvest. Because wheat can be used as a CC (Mannering and Meyer, 1963; Unger, 1975; Crutchfield et al., 1986; Decker et al., 1994), this is not necessarily a negative when a CC is desired. However, the seeding rate of such volunteer plants is not controlled by the farmer and therefore may prove to be too competitive when a deliberately seeded CC is also being planted. In our study, an unusually high rate of shatter occurred during harvest because of plot combine design and weather that delayed harvest of the grain.

Overwintering planted CC in our study consisted of red clover and alfalfa. Additionally, there was also overwintering of volunteer wheat (Figure 3). Volunteer wheat survival ranged from 1% volunteer wheat cover in the red clover plots to about 40% in SUD/SDX. The positive

side of volunteer wheat was weed suppression. Most treatments with volunteer wheat kept weed cover below 16%. The CC control weeds through competition, increasing water holding capacity and aeration (Creamer et al. 1996; Conklin et al., 2002). Weed suppression can reduce herbicide use resulting in lower production costs; however, the overwintering of red clover, alfalfa, and volunteer wheat as well as the presence of spring weeds still requires herbicide applications to remove living plants and prevent undue competition with corn (Van Heemst, 1985; Hall et al., 1992; Murphy et al., 1996; Liu et al., 2009; Otto et al., 2009; Tursen et al. 2016). One month after corn was planted, red clover and alfalfa were still the only CC to survive, with few weeds or volunteer wheat. Most plots had 90% of greater of the soil surface covered by the combination of surviving CC, weeds, volunteer wheat, corn, and straw/residue. In a crop management experiment with simulated rainfall applications in southwestern Brazil, Panachuki et al. (2011) reported higher runoff and soil loss under no-till system without residue, significantly less runoff under a no-till system with 2 tons/ ha⁻¹ of surface soybean residue, and no runoff or soil loss under a no-till system with 4 ton/ha⁻¹ of surface soybean residue. Water infiltration rates were likewise higher in no-till system with surface residue (Tisdall and Oades, 1982). The high degree of soil cover and residue in our study can potentially help reduce soil erosion, increase water infiltration and soil nutrients and recycling (Laflen and Colvin, 1981; Aulakh et al., 1991; Zibilske et al., 2002; Roldán et al., 2003; Govaerts et al., 2006; Bertol et al., 2007).

The CC with the largest accumulation of biomass was red clover (Figure 5) which agrees with Decker et al. (1994) who found that clover was the highest yielding of hairy vetch (*Vicia villosa* Roth.), winter pea and winter wheat. Red clover is planted 5 months earlier than the other CCs, as an undersown CC, which provides a unique advantage for this CC system (add something along this line). In addition, oat/pea mix, sudangrass, and sorghum-sudangrass

produced enough yield to potentially cover the cost of harvest (Figure 5). Akemo et al. (2000a) in Ohio found that a pea/rye mix yielded > 4 Mg ha⁻¹ of biomass which shows that peas can be high yielding when grown with a cereal. Akemo et al. (2000b) also found that pea-rye yields were greatest when soil moisture was between 80-100 mm of moisture. In the Akemo et al. (2000) study, cold and wet weather prevailed in 1996 and 1997 from April through June, which could have contributed to the greater yields of the pea/oat mix during the first site-year because of possible soil moisture retention with high residues and adequate precipitation. Both site-years of our study showed adequate moisture for pea establishment, but as discussed previously several other factors could have effected pea establishment and growth (i.e. volunteer wheat competition, high residues, etc.). Andraski and Bundy (2005) had a similar study, looking at oats, rye and triticale, and found that CC dry matter yielded 1.16 ± 0.86 Mg ha⁻¹, which is equal or lower to what we found in our experiment.

Sudex and sorghum are reported to have very high forage dry matter yields in some cases > 8 Mg ha⁻¹ (Finney et al., 1988; Creamer and Baldwin, 2000). However, the Creamer and Baldwin (2000) study was conducted in the southern region of the US and therefore had more favorable growing conditions for these warm season grasses, when compared to the northern region's cooler and wetter growing conditions, particularly in Michigan. Due to unfavorable growing conditions and the excessive competition with volunteer wheat in our study, harvested forage yields were very low for teff, radish and VW (Figure 5), and farmers might not profit from harvesting low-yielding CC as double crops in Michigan due to seed, labor, and machinery costs (Teasdale, 1996). As a rule of thumb, forage harvests yielding less than about 1 Mg ha⁻¹ may not produce enough value to cover the mechanical and labor cost of harvest in Michigan (Cassida, personal communication).

In addition to yield, nutritive value of harvested forage is important. Red clover had the highest CP content with oat/pea mix and radish being the next highest CP content, averaging 144 g kg⁻¹, 107 g kg⁻¹ and 108 g kg⁻¹ respectively (Table 2). This was an expected result since typically legumes have a greater CP content than grasses (Balde et al., 1993; Dewhurst et al., 2003), however, we would expect a 30-200g kg⁻¹ greater CP concentration in the legumes than what our study showed. Typical CP concentration range for most legumes are 130 g kg⁻¹ to 300 g kg⁻¹ (Buxton et al., 1985; McGraw and Marten, 1986). The CP content for the grasses in this study were consistent with the literature (Robinson, 1969; Cherney et al., 1991; Pedersen and Toy, 1997; Ghanbari-Bonjar and Lee 2002; McCrown et al., 2012). Cassida et al. (2000) reported that alfalfa and red clover had high CP content during summer growth averaging 215 g kg⁻¹ and 192 g kg⁻¹, respectively in a perennial forage cutting system. Average CP was lower in this study then what Cassida et al. (2000) found, which can be explained by the different management and cropping systems as well as the presence of volunteer wheat in all treatments (Table 2). The harvested volunteer wheat in the plots potentially reduced CP in forages because no additional N fertilized was added. This lack of fertilizer combined with the higher plant densities, the volunteer wheat was most likely unable to find adequate amounts N (about 100 kg N ha⁻¹) for wheat growth and higher N content (Evans, 1983; Valenti and Wicks, 1992; Delogu et al., 1998; Staggenborg et al., 2003). One indicator of the volunteer wheat N deficiency we noticed in our study was the tops to middle of the volunteer wheat leaves were yellow (Evans, 1983; Valenti and Wicks, 1992; Stone et al., 1996; Staggenborg et al., 2003). Roseberg et al., (2006) reported that teffgrass CP was responsive to N fertilizer and water with CP content ranging from 119 to 166 g kg⁻¹, while McCrown et al., (2012) reported teffgrass CP content between 89 to 100 g kg⁻¹. The CP content of teffgrass in our study agreed more with the

McCrown et al., (2012) study which is surprising since there was so much volunteer wheat in our teffgrass plots and the McCrown et al. (2012) study had mostly pure stands of teffgrass.

Cell wall content is measured by NDF and ADF and is considered a negative nutritive value component (Collins and Fritz, 2003). The NDF content was greatest for SUD/SDX and the FCC group, 675 g kg⁻¹ and 645 g kg⁻¹ respectively, while the legumes, red clover and the oat/pea mix, 586 g kg⁻¹ and 628 g kg⁻¹ respectively, had the lowest NDF content. Legumes, RCL and the OPmix, and the warm season grasses group, which included sudangrass, sudex and teffgrass, were significantly different from each other which was an expected result, since legumes have typically a lower NDF content than grasses (Balde et al., 1993; Dewhurst et al., 2003), depending on the growth stages of the grasses (Paterson et al., 1994; Balasko and Nelson, 2003). The reason for such high NDF content in all treatments in our study could be the volunteer wheat and straw contamination in all the plots. Wheat straw is almost pure cell wall with high NDF content and therefore increases the NDF of a forage mix containing straw (Leng, 1990; Poore et al., 1991; Moore et al., 1999).

Chapko et al. (1991) conducted a study with 4 different treatments consisting of oat, oatpea, barley, and barley-pea. Looking at forage yield and forage quality of these treatments and found that the addition of pea to oat decreased NDF content by 7.1 percentage units and increased CP by 4.4 percentage units. Chapko et al. (1991) compared the oat-pea mix with all other treatments and found that the oat-pea mix had superior forage quality, though it was lower yielding compared to the other treatments. In the Chapko et al. (1991) study the forage quality of their oat/pea mix, CP, ADF and NDF values, were similar to our study, with very little difference. There was no difference in the ADF content for any treatments in the study, which could be explained by volunteer wheat contamination in all treatments (how did the average

ADF compare to recommended values for different livestock systems? Add some more context here). We did not examine digestibility of the harvested forage, which is another potential area of research for forages grown in this type of management (Yun et al., 1999).

Covers with the greatest moisture concentration at harvest were OPmix and RCL, 772 g kg⁻¹ and 754 g kg⁻¹ respectively and would therefore require the most wilting before ensiling, while the FCC group contained the least moisture at 631 g kg⁻¹. Recommended moisture for ensiling alfalfa and similar forage crops is 65-70% moisture (Jones et al., 2004), which compared to the 77% moisture content in RCL and 75% in OPmix treatments would require at least a 5-7% moisture decrease. Small grains, such as wheat and oats require a moisture content of 60-70% before ensiling (Jones et al., 2004), showing that the FCC group was in the range for direct chopping or baling, and the oats in the OPmix needed to dry about another 5% before ensiling. The other grass treatments in our study were in the recommended range for ensiling grasses, between 60-70% (Jones et al., 2004).

Corn grain or stover yields were not affected by a preceding CC (Table 3), therefore CC can potentially be used as a double crop in Michigan, though competition from a biannual CC such as red clover could potentially reduce corn yields if not managed (Kasper et al., 1990; Drury et al., 1999; Zemenchik et al., 2000). Andraski and Bundy (2005) found that corn yields were not affected by CC treatment if it was winterkilled. Dyke and Liebman (1995) also found that corn yields did not change in a study with red clover and oat residues incorporated into the soil before corn planting. Griffin et al. (2000) conducted a study in Maine looking at biomass and N accumulation of alfalfa, winter rye (*Secale cereale* L.), and hairy vetch (*Vicia villosa* Roth subsp. *Villosa*) plus rye. They found that the legumes accumulated more N than the rye cover grown alone, though biomass was similar for all covers. Both legumes accumulated more N than

rye grown alone, although total biomass was similar. Several researchers have shown greater corn N uptake and/or yield following a clover CC compared with no cover (Torbert and Reeves, 1991; Dapaah and Vyn, 1998; Vyn et al., 2000; Gentry et al., 2013). In the Griffin et al. (2000) study, sweet corn yields were affected by CC red clover, oats, and N fertilizer rates. Similarly, the unharvested RCL treatment in our study had the greatest corn grain N concentration among all treatment combinations, but corn grain N concentration was reduced by 25% when RCL was harvested (20 to 15 g kg⁻¹, for unharvested and harvested, respectively) (Table 4). Harvesting RCL also reduced ear leaf N by 17% compared to unharvested RCL (23 vs. 19 g kg⁻¹). These reductions in ear leaf and corn grain N concentrations were not reflected in corn grain yields. The difference in the corn yields found in the Griffin et al (2000) study compared to the no difference in corn yields in our study could be due to the different crop (sweet corn versus field corn) and management of plots. We fertilized all our corn plots at the minimum required N for corn growth based on the MRTN (2016) rates for Michigan.

Total N removed by our corn crop showed a CC x harvest interaction. The harvesting of forage led to greatest reduction of corn crop TNR for the RCL, and had a lesser effect on OPmix, SUD/SDX, and radish treatments. The RCL and OP in the harvested system did not differ by TNR by corn, but RCL in the unharvested system had a greater TNR, though there was still no significant effect on corn yield. This finding potentially shows a quantifiable N removal rate of corn grown after CCs, especially for the RCL and OPmix treatments. This could help farmers better understand the benefits and negatives of harvesting a CC for forage and where to adjust for fertilizer rates, if needed. However, more research is needed to look at TNR of harvesting CC and its effect on corn.

Corn ear leaf N concentration was reduced for all harvested treatments except for radish, where forage harvest increased ear leaf N to 22 g kg⁻¹ in corn the following year compared to 20 $g kg^{-1}$ for ear leaf N when radish was not unharvested (Table 4). The same treatment pattern occurred for N content of corn grain after a radish CC (16 vs. 13 g kg⁻¹ in the harvested vs not harvested plots, respectively). This could potentially be explained by Smith and Collins (2003) study, which found that broadleaf and brassica crops residues degrade quickly and therefore do not impede corn establishment and growth if weed competition is reduced or removed. A study by Jani et al. (2016) conducted in the Southeastern USA found that pea, clover and vetch roots decompose and release N rapidly and that termination by disking or roller-crimping does not affect these processes. Additional studies showed similar results of legumes CC shoots decompose and release N rapidly following termination, because of their low C:N ratio and percent lignin which favors fast rates of decomposition and N release (Buchanan and King, 1993; Sainju et al., 2005). Conversely, legume cover-crop roots have higher C:N ratios, elevated lignin content, and are often protected from microbial decomposition within the soil (Buchanan and King, 1993; Puget and Drinkwater, 2001; Schmidt et al., 2011; Dungait et al., 2012), all of which lead to slower rates of legume root decomposition and N release relative to shoots. Although legume cover-crop root decomposition and N release is relatively slow, roots can account for about 30% of total legume biomass (Sainju et al., 2005).

As discussed above, most harvested treatments saw a reduction in corn grain N, however, RCL and OPmix had the greatest decrease in corn grain N content. Rajcan and Tollenaar (1999) compared two corn hybrids and found that a higher N uptake during grain filling was related to a higher dry matter accumulation. This differs from some of the CC treatments in our study, when compared to stover biomass at harvest, oat/pea mix, sudex and FCC treatments had a higher corn

grain N content with a lower corn stover biomass. Many of the studies are based on N uptake compared to other corn hybrids (Rajcan and Tollenaar, 1999) or C and N in the soil (Elliott, 1986; Utomo et al., 1990; Drinkwater et al, 1998; Dabney et al., 2001; Wilhelm et al., 2007) not the direct effects of CC on corn tissue, which makes evaluation difficult and leaves this an area open for more research for better comparisons.

Soil organic matter (SOM) did not respond to CC treatments. This is not surprising since it typically takes multiple years to detect changes in SOM (Sainju et al. 2002). Total C and N tests showed that overall, total soil N and C was similar among CC treatments (Table 5). This could be due to sampling error and/or change in bulk density over time (Logsdon et al., 2008). However, POXC results have shown to be good indicators of changes in a short period (Culman et al., 2012; Culman et al., 2013). There was a similar trend for POXC in red clover, oat/pea mix and the warm season grasses (Figure 6). These treatments had a lower POXC value for the harvested treatments compared to the not harvested treatments. Teffgrass was the only warm season grass that was the opposite, having a lower POXC value for the no harvest treatment. Culman et al. (2013) saw a significant difference in POXC values comparing three management systems including conventional till, an integrated system including CCs such as red clover, and compost. However, POXC in Culman et al. (2013) was measured over time both short-term and long-term, in comparison to our study which only looked at one point in a period. In the Culman et al. (2013) short-term study, POXC values were significantly lower for the conventional fertilizer management systems versus compost and cover crop alternative management. In three studies previously conducted in Michigan, red clover interseeded with wheat found increased soil C and N mineralization (Mutch and Martin 1998; Sanchez et al., 2001; Snapp et al., 2003), which is another potential area for further research.

CONCLUSIONS

Seeding CCs after winter wheat harvest in Michigan and then harvesting the CC for forage eight weeks later can provide harvestable forage. Red clover, oat/pea mix and sudangrass could be potential forage crops for double-cropping with acceptable nutritive value for some classes of livestock, such as dry cows and heifers, and they yielded the most forage and were best at competing with the weeds and volunteer wheat in Michigan. Sunn hemp, cowpea, teffgrass, and alfalfa did not establish following wheat harvest in our research and were not successful as cover crops or as forage crops. Seeding rates were a recommended seeding rate for cover crop establishment, however the high volunteer wheat and straw could have prevented cover crops to be no-till drilled in successfully. The removal of straw, which can provide on farm use such as bedding and as a roughage feed, and potentially a minimal or strip till could help with cover crop establishment. Therefore, allowing the cover crops to better compete with weeds and volunteer wheat and potentially increasing forage yield and quality, though more research of the effect on weed and volunteer wheat competition with these cover crops will need to be researched. Volunteer wheat can function as a CC and was accounted for in cover evaluations including canopy closure and height. Volunteer wheat was not the desired CC in this specific study and could have caused differences, or lack of differences, in quality and nutritional value in the desired CCs. There were no negative consequences of partial removal of CC biomass for forage on corn grain or stover yield. If a grower does not get red clover frost-seeded or does not want a perennial cover crop to terminate in the spring, an alternative cover crop is an oat/pea mixture following wheat harvest which will winter kill and still provide N and adequate forage yields. However, harvesting CCs such as frost-seeded red clover, oat/pea mix and volunteer
wheat following wheat harvest in a Michigan wheat-corn rotation could potentially decrease available N during corn uptake, effecting corn quality and lower CP in corn grain. Measures of soil quality including SOM and POXC did not differ among CC treatments during this study, though more research should be done to quantify SOM and POXC for a longer term. Soil nutrient, C and N concentrations and C:N showed no differences because our study was not long enough to detect changes and should be done in a longer term study to see more accurate changes. APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Results

TABLES

Table 1. Variety and pure live seeding rates for cover crops grown after wheat harvest at East Lansing, MI. in 2014 and 2015.

Cover crop	Cover Crop Variety	Seeding Rate (kg ha ⁻¹)	Seed cost (per kg)	Cost kg/ha ⁻¹
red clover	variety not stated	14.6	\$4.27	\$62.34
alfalfa	'Hi Nitro'	17.9	\$9.68	\$173.27
cowpea	variety not stated	56.0	\$2.28	\$127.68
sunn hemp	'Tillage Sunn'	22.4	\$4.07	\$91.17
oil seed radish	'CSS Tillage Radish'	20.2	\$6.01	\$121.40
oats	'Jerry'	33.6	\$0.91	\$30.01
field pea	'LC64040'	44.8	\$1.32	\$59.14
BMR sudangrass	'Piper'	22.4	\$1.98	\$44.35
BMR sudex	'GW 300 BMR'	33.6	\$1.98	\$66.53
teffgrass	2014-'Reprieve' 2015-'Dessie'	11.2	\$6.42	\$71.90

Seeding rates were recommendations found on the Midwest cover crop council (MCCC) website: http://mccc.msu.edu/ and seed cost were obtained from the individual seed companies where seed was obtained from and costs at that specific point in time (seed costs may differ).

	NDF [†]	ADF	СР	Ash	Harvest moisture	G	N.	C: N
					. 1	C	N	Ratio
	-				g kg ⁻¹			
RCL∔	586	374	144	91	754	448	23	19
OPmix	628	363	107	90	772	440	17	26
SUD	682	375	89	92	717	441	14	30
SUX	668	380	81	111	689	445	13	36
Teff	634	366	107	97	655	439	17	27
Radish	638	376	108	108	691	432	14	32
FCC	645	382	100	93	635	438	16	22
SE	1.6	1.2	0.7	0.8	1.6	0.5	0.1	2.1
					P < -			
					1 <			
Model								
Cover crop	0.01	NS§	0.07	NS	0.04	0.01	0.07	NS
I								
Contrasts								
RCL vs. FCC	0.02	NS	0.01	NS	0.01	0.04	0.01	0.06
RCL vs. OPmix	NS	NS	0.04	NS	NS	0.01	NS	NS
RCL vs. Radish	NS	NS	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	0.05
RCL vs.								
SUD/SDX	0.01	NS	0.01	NS	NS	0.07	0.01	0.02
SUD vs. SDX	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.04	NS	NS
LEG vs. WSG	0.01	NS	0.01	NS	0.02	łNS	0.02	0.04

Table 2. Nutritive value and carbon and nitrogen concentration and ratio of forage in cover crops harvested eight weeks after seeding following July 2014 and 2015 wheat harvest at East Lansing, MI.

[†] NDF, neutral detergent fiber; ADF, acid detergent fiber; CP, crude protein; FCC, failed cover crop; LEG, legume group: RCL and OPmix; OPmix, oat/pea mix; N, nitrogen; RCL, frost-seeded red clover; SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass; WSG, warm-season grass group: SUD, SDX, teffgrass.

‡ All values are dry matter basis except harvest moisture.

			0, b (1 - 1
Treatment	Harvest Treatment	Grain, Mg/ha ⁻¹	Stover, Mg/ha ⁻¹
Fallow	fallow	14	13
RCL [‡]	NH^\dagger	12	13
RCL	Н	11	13
OPmix	NH	13	15
OPmix	Н	13	14
SUD	NH	13	14
SUD	Н	13	13
SDX	NH	12	14
SDX	Н	13	14
Teff	NH	13	14
Teff	Н	13	15
Radish	NH	13	13
Radish	Н	13	13
FCC	NH	13	14
FCC	Н	13	13
SE		0.7	0.5
		P <	
Model			
Cover crop (CC)		NS§	NS
Harvest (harv)		NS	NS
CC t*harv		NS	NS
Contrasts			
RCL vs. FCC		NS	NS
RCL vs. OPMix		NS	NS
RCL vs. Radish		NS	NS
RCL vs. SUD/SDX		NS	NS
SUD vs. SDX		NS	NS
LEG vs. WSG		NS	NS
Interaction Contrasts			
RCL vs FCC for harv		NS	NS
RCL vs. OPmix for harv		NS	NS
RCL vs. Radish for harv		NS	NS
RCL vs. SUD/SDX for harv		NS	NS
SUD vs. SDX for harv		NS	NS
LEG vs. WSG for harv		NS	NS

Table 3. ANOVA results and planned contrasts for corn grain and stover yields after cover crops were harvested or not harvested the previous October 2014 and 2015 at East Lansing, MI.

Table 3. (cont'd)

Fallow vs. all not harvested CC	NS	NS
Fallow vs. all harvested CC	NS	NS
Fallow vs. RCL-NH	0.06	NS

[†] NH, Not Harvested; FCC, failed cover crop; H, Harvested; LEG, legume group: RCL and OPmix; OPmix, oat/pea mix; N, nitrogen; RCL, frost-seeded red clover; SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass; WSG, warm-season grass group: SUD, SDX, teffgrass.

‡ All values are dry matter basis except harvest moisture.

		Corn					Total N
		Ear	C	a ·	C	C.	removed,
		Leaf	Corn	Grain	Corn N	Stover	kg/ha-l
Treatment	Harvested	kg ⁻¹	kg ⁻¹	C:N	$k g^{-1}$	C:N [.]	
Fallow	fallow	19	13	29	9	49	308
RCL [‡]	\mathbf{NH}^{\dagger}	23	20	23	11	42	374
RCL	Н	19	15	27	10	44	297
OPmix	NH	18	16	27	8	52	338
OPmix	Н	18	13	30	8	55	284
SUD	NH	19	17	25	9	50	343
SUD	Н	18	15	27	9	52	366
SDX	NH	20	14	28	8	56	293
SDX	Н	19	15	28	8	55	304
Teff	NH	20	16	26	9	50	339
Teff	Н	19	14	28	9	51	327
Radish	NH	20	13	30	9	48	291
Radish	Н	22	16	26	9	47	335
FCC	NH	19	16	28	10	49	349
FCC	Н	19	15	28	9	50	316
SE		0.6	0.1	1.0	0.1	3.9	21.3
Model				P	<		
Cover Crop (CC)		NS§	0.10	NS	0.08	NS	NS
Harvest (harv)		0.06	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.01
CC*harv		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.03
Contrasts		112	110	110	110	110	0.00
RCL vs. FCC		NS	0.03	NS	0.01	0.01	NS
RCL vs. OPMix		NS	0.02	NS	0.01	0.01	NS
RCL vs Radish		NS	0.04	NS	0.01	0.01	NS
RCL vs. SUD/SDX		NS	0.03	NS	0.01	0.01	NS
SUD vs. SDX		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
LEG vs. WSG		NS	NS	NS	0.04	0.08	NS
Interaction Contrasts							
RCL vs FCC for harv		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.01
RCL vs. OPmix for harv		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.01
RCL vs. Radish for harv		NS	0.02	NS	NS	NS	0.01

Table 4. Nitrogen concentration, carbon/nitrogen ratio, and total nitrogen removed in V-12 stage corn ear leaves, grain and stover harvested after cover crops were harvested or not harvested the previous October 2014 and 2015 at East Lansing, MI.

 Table 4. (cont'd)

RCL vs. SUD/SDX for						
harv	NS	0.10	NS	NS	NS	0.01
SUD vs. SDX for harv	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.07
LEG vs. WSG for harv	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.02
Fallow vs. all not						
harvested CC	NS	0.5	NS	NS	NS	NS
Fallow vs. all harvested						
CC	0.07	0.05	NS	NS	NS	NS
Fallow vs. RCL-NH	NS	0.01	NS	0.05	NS	0.01

[†] NH, Not Harvested; FCC, failed cover crop; H, Harvested; LEG, legume group: RCL and OPmix; OPmix, oat/pea mix; N, nitrogen; RCL, frost-seeded red clover; SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass; WSG, warm-season grass group: SUD, SDX, Teff.
[‡] All values are dry matter basis except harvest moisture.

FIGURES



Figure 1. (A) Maximum, minimum, and average monthly air temperature, (B) cumulative monthly precipitation, and 25-year norms at East Lansing, MI., from October 2013 to September 2016. Arrows indicate when soil samples were obtained.



Figure 2. Percentage (dry matter basis) of cover crop, volunteer wheat, wheat straw, and weed components in biomass harvested in October in 2014 (A) and 2015 (B) from cover crop plots in East Lansing, MI. (‡ RCL, frost-seeded red clover; OPmix, oat/pea mix, SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass)



Figure 3. Cover crop (CC), volunteer wheat (VW), weed, crop residue (RES), and corn components of ground cover when measured: (A) eight weeks after CC planting following wheat harvest, (B) four weeks after Oct. CC harvest, (C) four weeks before May corn planting the following year, and (D) four weeks after May corn planting. Values are means from two site-years (2014-2015 and 2015-2016) at East Lansing, MI. (RCL = red clover, OPmix = oat/pea mix, SUD= sudangrass, SDX = sorghum x sudangrass, FCC = failed cover crop, NH = no CC harvest, H = CC harvested)



Figure 4. Plant canopy height when measured: (A) eight weeks after CC planting following wheat harvest, (B) four weeks after Oct. CC harvest, (C) four weeks before May corn planting the following year, and (D) four weeks after May corn planting. Values are means from two site-years (2014-2015 and 2015-2016) at East Lansing, MI. Error bars are SEM. (RCL = red clover, OPmix = oat/pea mix, SUD= sudangrass, SDX = sorghum x sudangrass, FCC = failed cover crop, NH = no CC harvest, H = CC harvested)



Figure 5. Forage dry matter harvested in October 2014 and 2015 from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest in July, at East Lansing, MI. The error bars show statistically different results based on SE. (‡ RCL, frost-seeded red clover; FCC, failed cover crop; OPmix, oat/pea mix, SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass)



Figure 6. Analysis of variance for labile organic matter for 2014 and 2015 fall soil sampling after cover crop harvest. Cover crops were harvested in October 2014 and 2015 from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest in July. Cover crops were harvested in October 2014 at East Lansing, MI. The error bars show statistically different results based on SE. (‡ RCL, frost-seeded red clover; FCC, failed cover crop; OPmix, oat/pea mix, SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass)

APPENDIX B

ANOVA Tables for Figures

Table A1. ANOVA table for cover evaluations taken bi-weekly from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest approximately, (A) eight weeks after cover crop planting (B) four weeks after cover crop harvest, (C) four weeks before corn planting (D) four weeks after planting. Cover crops were harvested in October 2014 and 2015 and corn was planted in May 2015 and 2016 at East Lansing, MI.

P <											
	Eigh	t weeks afte	5	Four weeks after cover crop harvest							
Response Variable Model	Volunteer Wheat	Cover Crop	Weed	Bare Ground	Straw	Voluntee r Wheat	Cover Crop	Weed	Bare Ground	Straw	
Cover crop (CC)	0.01	0.01	NS [§]	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	
Harvest (harv)	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	0.07	0.01	
CC *Harv	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	
SE	4.04	1.03	1.99	1.81	3.94	3.52	0.41	2.61	1.65	4.02	
Contrasts	1	1	1								
RCL [†] vs. FCC	0.01	0.01	0.03	NS	0.05	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	0.03	
RCL vs. OPMix	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	
RCL vs. Radish	0.02	0.01	NS	NS	0.08	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	
RCL vs. SUD/SD X	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	0.05	
SUD vs. SDX	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.04	NS	NS	
LEG vs. WSG	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	0.04	NS	0.06	
Interaction	Contrasts	1	1						1		
RCL vs FCC for harv	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	0.06	
RCL vs. OPmix for harv	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.03	NS	NS	NS	

RCL vs. SUD/SD X	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.05	0.01	NS	NS	NS
SUD vs.										
SDX for										
harv	NS	0.01	NS	NS						
LEG vs. WSG for harv	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	NS
Fallow vs. all not harv CC	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	0.03	NS	0.01	0.01
Fallow vs. all harv CC	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	NS	0.01	NS	NS	NS	NS
Fallow vs. RCL- NH [†]	NS	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	NS	0.01	0.01

Table A1. (cont'd)

				P <						
		Pre-0	Corn Plar	iting	Post-Corn Planting					
Response Variable	Volunteer WheatCover CropBare WeedBare 			Corn	Cover Crop	Weed	Bare Ground	Straw		
Model										
Cover crop (CC)	0.01	0.01	0.10	NS§	0.08	NS	0.01	NS	NS	0.03
Harvest (harv)	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	0.01	NS	0.01
CC *Harv	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
SE	4.04	1.03	1.99	1.81	3.94	3.52	0.41	2.61	1.65	4.02
Contrasts										
RCL [†] vs. FCC	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.10	NS	0.01	0.04	0.05	0.01
RCL vs. OPMix	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.07	0.01	NS	0.01	0.03	NS	0.01
RCL vs. Radish	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.06	0.01	NS	0.01	NS	0.01	0.01

RCL vs.										
SUD/SDX	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.01
SUD vs.										
SDX	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
LEG vs.										
WSG	0.01	0.01	NS	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	NS	0.05	0.01
Interaction Co	ntrasts									
RCL vs										
FCC for										
harv	0.05	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	NS	0.03	NS	NS	NS
RCL vs.										
OPmix for										
harv	0.01	0.01	NS	0.04	0.03	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
RCL vs.										
Radish for										
harv	NS	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
RCL vs.										
SUD/SDX										
for harv	0.05	0.01	0.10	0.08	0.01	NS	0.08	NS	NS	NS
SUD vs.										
SDX for										
harv	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
LEG vs.										
WSG for										
harv	NS	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Fallow vs.										
all not harv	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	NG	0.02	0.00	0.04	NG	0.02
	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	NS	0.03	0.09	0.04	NS	0.03
Fallow vs										
all harv CC	NS	0.01	0.01	NS	0.01	NS	0.08	NS	NS	0.07
Fallow vs	110	0.01	0.01	110	0.01	110	0.00		110	0.07
RCL-NH [†]	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS	NS	0.01	0.01	NS	NS

Table A1. (cont'd)

[†] NH, Not Harvested; FCC, failed cover crop; H, Harvested; LEG, legume group: RCL and OPmix; OPmix, oat/pea mix; N, nitrogen; RCL, frost-seeded red clover; SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass; WSG, warm-season grass group: SUD, SDX, Teff. § NS, not significant (*P* >0.10). **Table A2.** ANOVA table for Plant canopy height taken bi-weekly from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest approximately, (A) eight weeks after planting (B) four weeks after harvest (C) four weeks before corn planting (D) four weeks after corn planting. Cover crops were harvested in October 2014 and 2015 and Corn was planted in May 2015 and 2016 at East Lansing, MI.

	P <								
	Eight weeks	Four weeks							
	after cover	after cover	Pre-Corn	Post-Corn					
	crop planting	crop harvest	Planting	Planting					
Model									
Cover crop (CC)	0.01	0.01	NS [§]	NS					
Harvest (harv)	NS	0.01	NS	NS					
CC*Harv	NS	0.01	NS	NS					
Contrasts									
RCL [†] vs. FCC	0.01	0.03	NS	NS					
RCL vs. OPMix	NS	0.01	NS	NS					
RCL vs. Radish	0.01	0.02	NS	NS					
RCL vs. SUD/SDX	0.09	NS	NS	NS					
SUD vs. SDX	0.01	NS	NS	NS					
LEG vs WSG	0.01	0.04	NS	NS					
Interaction Contrasts									
RCL vs FCC for harvest	NS	0.01	NS	NS					
		0.01							
RCL vs. OPmix for harv	NS		NS	NS					
		0.01							
RCL vs. Radish for harv	NS		NS	NS					
	NG	NG							
RCL vs. SUD/SDX for harv	NS	NS	NS	NS					
SUD vs. SDX for harv	NS	0.01	NS	NS					
LEG vs. WSG for harv	NS	0.01	NS	NS					
		0.01	110	110					
Fallow vs. all not harv CC	0.01	0.01	NS	NS					
Fallow vs. all harv CC	0.02	0.02	NS	NS					
Fallow vs. RCL-NH [†]	0.01	0.01	NS	NS					

[†] NH, Not Harvested; FCC, failed cover crop; H, Harvested; LEG, legume group: RCL and OPmix; OPmix, oat/pea mix; N, nitrogen; RCL, frost-seeded red clover; SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass; WSG, warm-season grass group: SUD, SDX, Teff. § NS, not significant (P > 0.10).

<i>P</i> <
0.02
0.01
0.01
0.01
0.01
NS§
0.01

Table A3. ANOVA table for Figure 5 forage dry matter harvested in October 2014 and 2015 from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest in July, at East Lansing, MI.

[†] FCC, failed cover crop; LEG, legume group: RCL and OPmix; OPmix, oat/pea mix; N, nitrogen; RCL, frost-seeded red clover; SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass; WSG, warm-season grass group: SUD, SDX, Teff.

‡ All values are dry matter basis except harvest moisture.

Model	
	P <
Cover Crop (CC)	NS [§]
Harvest (harv)	NS
CC*harv	NS
Contrasts	
RCL^{\ddagger} vs. FCC^{\dagger}	NS
RCL vs. OPMix	NS
RCL vs. Radish	NS
RCL vs. SUD/SDX	NS
SUD vs. SDX	NS
LEG vs WSG	NS
Interaction Contrasts	
RCL vs FCC for harv	NS
RCL vs. OPmix for harv	NS
RCL vs. Radish for harv	0.09
RCL vs. SUD/SDX for harv	NS
SUD vs. SDX for harv	NS
LEG vs. WSG for harv	NS
Fallow vs. all not harv CC	NS
Fallow vs. all harv CC	NS
Fallow vs. RCL-NH	NS

Table A4. ANOVA table for Figure 6 analysis of variance for labile organic matter for November 2014 and October 2015 fall soil sampling after cover crop harvest. Cover crops were harvested in October 2015 from red clover and annual cover crops planted after wheat harvest in July. Cover crops were harvested in October 2014 at East Lansing, MI.

[†] NH, Not Harvested; FCC, failed cover crop; H, Harvested; LEG, legume group: RCL and OPmix; OPmix, oat/pea mix; N, nitrogen; RCL, frost-seeded red clover; SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass; WSG, warm-season grass group: SUD, SDX, Teff. [‡] All values are dry matter basis except harvest moisture.

Treatment	Harvested	C g kg ⁻¹	N g kg ⁻¹
Fallow	Fallow	20.1	2.3
RCL [‡]	NH^\dagger	19.4	2.1
RCL	Н	19.9	1.8
OPmix	NH	19.8	2
OPmix	Н	20.4	2
SUD	NH	18.2	2
SUD	Н	20.8	2
SDX	NH	18.5	2
SDX	Н	20.7	2
Teff	NH	19.6	2
Teff	Н	21.1	2
Radish	NH	18.2	1.8
Radish	Н	18.5	1.8
FCC	NH	20.5	2
FCC	Н	19.4	2
		0.2	1.5
SE			
	P < -		
Model			
Cover crop (CC)		NS§	NS
Harvest (harv)		NS	NS
CC *harv		NS	NS
Contrasts			
RCL vs. FCC		NS	NS
RCL vs. OPMix		NS	NS
RCL vs. Radish		NS	NS
RCL vs. SUD/SDX		NS	NS
SUD vs. SDX		NS	NS
LEG vs WSG		NS	NS
Interaction Contrasts			
RCL vs FCC for harv		NS	NS
RCL vs. OPmix for harv		0.08	NS
RCL vs. Radish for harv		NS	NS
RCL vs. SUD/SDX for harv		NS	NS
SUD vs. SDX for harv		NS	NS

Table A5. Carbon and nitrogen concentration in soil from the 12 cm depth sampled in November after cover crop were harvested or not harvested in October 2014 and 2015 at East Lansing, MI.

Table A5. (cont'd)

LEG vs. WSG for harv	NS	NS
Fallow vs. all not harv CC	NS	NS
Fallow vs. all harv CC	NS	NS
Fallow vs. RCL-NH	NS	NS

[†] NH, Not Harvested; FCC, failed cover crop; H, Harvested; LEG, legume group: RCL and OPmix; OPmix, oat/pea mix; N, nitrogen; RCL, frost-seeded red clover; SUD, sudangrass; SDX, sorghum x sudangrass; Teff, teffgrass; WSG, warm-season grass group: SUD, SDX, Teff.

‡ All values are dry matter basis except harvest moisture.



Figure A1. Corn SPAD (Soil Plant Analytical Division value) meter and PhiNPQ readings at V-12 stage in ear leaves of corn grown after cover crops were harvested or not harvested the previous October at East Lansing, MI. SPAD measures active regulation of energy towards photosynthesis and should be positively correlated with grain yield. PhiNPQ is the measurement of active regulation of energy away from photosynthesis and should be correlated with reduced grain yields BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aberra, D., 1992. Germination, yield and yield components of teff (*Eragrostis tef* (Zucc.) Trotter) as affected by environment, tillage and weed control practices. Ph.D. Thesis. Oklahoma State University, Oklahoma, USA.
- Akemo, M.C., M.A. Bennett, and E.E. Reginer. 2000a. Tomato growth in spring-sown cover crops. Hort. Sci. 35:843–848.
- Akemo, M.C., E.E. Regnier, and M.A. Bennett. 2000b. Weed suppression in spring-sown rye (*Secale cereale*)–pea (*Pisum sativum*) cover crop mixes 1. Weed Tech. 14:545-549.
- Andraski, T.W., and L.G. Bundy. 2005. Cover crop effects on corn yield response to nitrogen on an irrigated sandy soil. Agron. J. 97:1239-1244.
- Angus, J.F., J.A. Kirkegaard, J.R. Hunt, M.H. Ryan, L. Ohlander, and M.B. Peoples. 2015. Break crops and rotations for wheat. Crop and Pasture Sci. 66:523-552.
- Ashfield, G. 1978. Freestall study says straw, sawdust and sand favored. Dairy Herd Manage, 15: 10,13-15.
- Aulakh, M.A., J.W. Doran, D.T. Walters, A.R. Mosier and D.D. Francis. 1991. Crop residue type and placement effects on denitrification and mineralization. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 55:1020–1025.
- Balasko, J.A., and C.J. Nelson. 2003. Grasses for northern areas. Pp. 125-148. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Balde, A.T., J.H. Vandersall, R.A. Erdman, J.B. Reeves, and B.P. Glenn. 1993. Effect of stage of maturity of alfalfa and orchardgrass on in situ dry matter and crude protein degradability and amino acid composition. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 44:29-43.
- Ballaré, C.L., and J.J. Casal. 2000. Light signals perceived by crop and weed plants. Field Crops Res. 67:149-160.
- Barnes, D.K., C.C. Sheaffer, G.H. Heichel, D.M. Smith, and R.N. Peaden. 1988. Registration of 'Nitro'alfalfa. Crop Sci. 28:718-718.
- Barnes, J.P., and A.R. Putnam. 1983. Rye residues contribute weed suppression in no-tillage cropping systems. J. Chem. Ecol. 9:1045-1057.

- Bertol, O.J., N.E. Rizzi, I. Bertol, and G. Roloff. 2007. Soil and water loss and quality of surface runoff associated with erosion in no-tillage area treated with chemical and organic fertilizers. Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo 31:781–792.
- Blaser, B.C., L.R. Gibson, J.W. Singer, and J.L. Jannink. 2006. Optimizing seeding rates for winter cereal grains and frost-seeded red clover intercrops. Agron. J. 98:1041-1049.
- Bosworth, S.C., C.S. Hoveland, and G.A. Buchanan. 1986. Forage quality of selected coolseason weed species. Weed Sci. 34:150-154.
- Bray, R.H., and L.T. Kurtz. 1945. Determination of total, organic, and available forms of phosphorus in soils. Soil Sci. 59:39-45.
- Buchanan, M. and King, L. 1993. Carbon and phosphorus losses from decomposing crop residues in no-till and conventional till agroecosystems. Agron. J. 85:631–638.
- Burgos, N.R., and R.E. Talbert. 1996. Weed control by spring cover crops and imazethapyr in no-till southern pea (*Vigna unguiculata*). Weed Technol. 10: 893-899.
- Buxton, D.R., J.S. Hornstein, W.F. Wedin, and G.C. Marten. 1985. Forage quality in stratified canopies of alfalfa, birdsfoot trefoil, and red clover. Crop Sci. 25:273–279.
- Cassida, K.A., T.S. Griffin, J. Rodriguez, S.C. Patching, O.B. Hesterman, and S.R. Rust. 2000. Protein degradability and forage quality in maturing alfalfa, red clover, and birdsfoot trefoil. Crop Sci. 40:209-215.
- Chapko, L.B., M.A. Brinkman, and K.A. Albrecht. 1991. Oat, oat-pea, barley, and barley-pea for forage yield, forage quality, and alfalfa establishment. J. Prod. Agric. 4:486-491.
- Cherney, J.H., D.J.R. Cherney, D.E. Akin, and J.D. Axtell. 1991. Potential of brown-midrib, low-lignin mutants for improving forage quality. Adv. Agron. 46:157-198.
- Christiansen, S., T. Svejcar, W.A. Phillips, 1989. Spring and fall cattle grazing effects on components and total grain yield of winter wheat. Agron. J. 81:145-150.
- Conklin, A.E., M.S. Erich, M. Liebman, D. Lambert, E.R. Gallandt, and W.A. Halteman. 2002. Effects of red clover (*Trifolium pratense*) green manure and compost soil amendments on wild mustard (*Brassica kaber*) growth and incidence of disease. Plant Soil 238:245–256.
- Collins, M., and J.O. Fritz. 2003. Forage quality. Pp. 363-390. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Creamer, N.G., and K.R. Baldwin. 2000. An evaluation of summer cover crops for use in vegetable production systems in North Carolina. Hort. Sci. 35:600-603.

- Creamer, N.G., M.A. Bennett, and B.R. Stinner. 1997. Evaluation of cover crop mixtures for use in vegetable production systems. Hort. Sci. 32:866–870.
- Creamer, N.G., M.A. Bennett, B.R. Stinner, and J. Cardina. 1996. A comparison of four processing tomato production systems differing in cover crop, and chemical inputs. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci. 121:559–568.
- Crowther, E.M. 1925. Studies on soil reaction: III. The determination of the hydrogen ion concentration of soil suspensions by means of the hydrogen electrode. J. Agric. Sci. (Cambridge). 15:201–221.
- Crutchfield, D.A., G.A. Wicks and O.C. Burnside. 1986. Effect of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) straw mulch level on weed control. Weed Sci. 34:110-114.
- Culman, S.W., S.S. Snapp, J.M. Green, and L.E. Gentry. 2013. Short-and long-term labile soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics reflect management and predict corn agronomic performance. Agron. J. 105:493-502.
- Culman, S.W., S.S. Snapp, M.A. Freeman, M.E. Schipanski, J. Beniston, R. Lal, L.E. Drinkwater, A.J. Franzluebbers, J.D. Glover, A.S. Grandy, and J. Lee. 2012. Permanganate oxidizable carbon reflects a processed soil fraction that is sensitive to management. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 76:494-504.
- Dabney, S.M., J.A. Delgado, and D.W. Reeves. 2001. Using winter cover crops to improve soil and water quality. Commun. Soil. Sci. Plant Anal. 32:1221-1250.
- Dapaah, H.K., and T.J. Vyn. 1998. Nitrogen fertilization and cover crop effects on soil structural stability and corn performance. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 29:2557–2569.
- Day, B.E., (ed.). 1968. Principles of plant and animal pest control. Vol. 2, Weed Control. NAS-NRC, Washington, DC. pgs. 84-85
- Decker, A.M., A.J. Clark, J.J. Meisinger, F.R. Mulford, and M.S. McIntosh. 1994. Legume cover crop contributions to no-tillage corn production. Agron. J. 86:126-135.
- Delogu, G., L. Cattivelli, N. Pecchioni, D. De Falcis, T. Maggiore, and A.M. Stanca. 1998. Uptake and agronomic efficiency of nitrogen in winter barley and winter wheat. European J. Agron. 9:11-20.
- Denmead, O.T., and R.H. Shaw. 1962. Availability of soil water to plants as affected by soil moisture content and meteorological conditions. Agron. J. 54:385-390
- Dewhurst, R.J., W.J. Fisher, J.K.S. Tweed, and R.J. Wilkins. 2003. Comparison of grass and legume silages for milk production. 1. Production responses with different levels of concentrate. J. Dairy Sci. 86:2598-2611.

- Drinkwater, L.E., P. Wagoner, and M. Sarrantonio. 1998. Legume-based cropping systems have reduced carbon and nitrogen losses. Nature. 396:262-265.
- Drury, C.F., C.S. Tan, T.W. Welacky, T.O. Oloya, A.S. Hamill, and S.E. Weaver. 1999. Red clover and tillage influence on soil temperature, water content, and corn emergence. Agron. J. 91:101-108.
- Dungait, J.A.J., D.W. Hopkins, A.S. Gregory, and A.P. Whitmore. 2012. Soil organic matter turnover is governed by accessibility not recalcitrance. Global Change Biol. 18:1781–1796.
- Dyck, E., and M. Liebman. 1995. Crop-weed interference as influenced by a leguminous or synthetic fertilizer nitrogen source: II. Rotation experiments with crimson clover, field corn, and lambsquarters. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 56:109-120.
- Elliott, E.T. 1986. Aggregate structure and carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus in native and cultivated soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 50: 627-633.
- Evans, J.R. 1983. Nitrogen and photosynthesis in the flag leaf of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Plant Physiol. 72:297-302.
- Epplin, F.M., I. Hossain, and E.G. Krenzer Jr. 2000. Winter wheat fall–winter forage yield and grain yield response to planting date in a dual-purpose system. Agric. Syst. 63: 161-173
- Finney, D. M., N.G. Creamer, M.G. Wagger, J.R. Schultheis, and K.L. Fager. 2005. Utilization of sorghum sudangrass as a summer cover and hay crop for organic fall cabbage production. M.S. Thesis. North Carolina University, Raleigh, North Carolina, USA. Pp. 64-97.
- Gentry, L.E., S.S. Snapp, R.F. Price, and L.F. Gentry. 2013. Apparent red clover nitrogen credit to corn: Evaluating cover crop introduction. Agron. J. 105:1658–1664.
- Ghanbari-Bonjar, A. and H.C. Lee. 2002. Intercropped field beans (*Vicia faba*) and wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) for whole crop forage: effect of nitrogen on forage yield and quality. J. Agric. Sci. (Cambridge). 3:311-315.
- Giunta, F., R. Motzo, A. Virdis, and A. Cabigliera. 2017. The effects of forage removal on biomass and grain yield of intermediate and spring triticales. Field Crops Res. 200:47-57.
- Goering, H.K., and P.J. Van Soest. 1970. Forage fiber analysis. USDA Agric. Handbook No. 379. U.S. Print. Office, Washington DC.
- Govaerts, B., K.D. Sayre, J.M. Ceballos-Ramirez, M.L. Luna-Guido, A. Limon-Ortega, L. Deckers, and L. Dendooven. 2006. Conventionally tilled and permanent raised beds with different crop residue management: effects on soil C and N dynamics. Plant Soil 280:143–155.

- Griffin, T., M. Liebman and J. Jemison. 2000. Cover crops for sweet corn production in a shortseason environment. Agron. J. 92:144-151.
- Gupta, S. K., and A. Pratap. 2007. History, origin, and evolution. Adv. Botany Res. 45:1-20.
- Habtegebrial, K., B.R. Singh, and M. Haile. 2007. Impact of tillage and nitrogen fertilization on yield, nitrogen use efficiency of tef (*Eragrostis tef* (Zucc.) Trotter) and soil properties. Soil and Tillage Res. 94:55-63.
- Hall, M. R., C.J. Swanton, and G.W. Anderson. 1992. The critical period of weed control in grain corn (*Zea mays*). Weed Sci. 40:441-447.
- Hartwig, N.L., and H.U. Ammon. 2002. Cover crops and living mulches. Weed Sci. 50:688-699.
- Hicks, S.K., C.W. Wendt, J.R. Gannaway, and R.B. Baker. 1989. Allelopathic effects of wheat straw on cotton germination, emergence, and yield. Crop Sci. 29:1057-1061.
- Holderbaum, J.F., A.M. Decker, J.J. Messinger, F.R. Mulford, and L.R. Vough. 1990. Fallseeded legume cover crops for no-tillage corn in the humid East. Agron. J. 82:117-124.
- Jani, A.D., J. Grossman, T.J. Smyth, and S. Hu. 2016. Winter legume cover-crop root decomposition and N release dynamics under disking and roller-crimping termination approaches. Renewable Agric. Food Syst. 31:214-229.
- Johnson, T.J., T.C. Kaspar, K.A. Kohler, S.J. Corak, and S.D. Logsdon. 1998. Oat and rye overseeded into soybean as fall cover crops in the upper Midwest. J. Soil Water Conserv. 53:276-279.
- Jones, C.M., A.J. Heinrichs, G.W. Roth, and V.A. Ishler. 2004. From harvest to feed: understanding silage management. Publ. Distribution Center, The Pennsylvania State University. University Park, PA 16802. Pp. 112.
- Kaspar, T.C., D.C. Erbach, and R.M. Cruse. 1990. Corn response to seed-row residue removal. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 54:1112-1117.
- Laflen, J.M., and T.S. Colvin. 1981. Effect of crop residue on soil loss from continuous row cropping. Trans. ASAE. 24:605-609.
- Lal, R., Regnier, E., Eckert, D.J., Edwards, W.M., Hammond, R., 1991. Expectations of cover crops for sustainable agriculture. In: Hargrove, W.L. (Ed.), Cover Crops for Clean Water. Soil Water Conserv. Soc. Ankeny, Iowa, pp. 1–11.
- Lawley, Y., R. Weil, and J.R. Teasdale. 2011. Forage radish winter cover crops suppress winter annual weeds in fall and prior to corn planting. Agron. J. 103:137–144.

- Lawley, Y.E., J.R. Teasdale, and R.R. Weil. 2012. The mechanism for weed suppression by a forage radish cover crop. Agron. J. 104:205-214.
- Ledgard, S.F., and K.W. Steele. 1992. Biological nitrogen fixation in mixed legume/grass pastures. Plant Soil. 141:137-153.
- Leng, R.A. 1990. Factors affecting the utilization of 'poor-quality' forages by ruminants particularly under tropical conditions. Nutr. Res. Rev. 3:277-303.
- Lipiec, J., C. Doussan, A. Nosalewicz, and K. Kondracka. 2013. Effect of drought and heat stresses on plant growth and yield: a review. International Agrophysics. 27:463-477.
- Liu, J. G., K.J. Mahoney, P.H. Sikkema, and C.J. Swanton. 2009. The importance of light quality in crop–weed competition. Weed Res. 49:217-224.
- Logsdon, S.D., O. Mbuya, and T. Tsegaye. 2008. Bulk density and soil moisture sensors. Soil Science Step-by-Step Field Analysis. Pp. 211-220.
- Mannering, J. V., and L.D. Meyer. 1963. The effects of various rates of surface mulch on infiltration and erosion. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 27:84-86.
- Marten, G.C., C.C. Sheaffer, and D.L. Wyse. 1987. Forage nutritive value and palatability of perennial weeds. Agron. J. 79:980-986.
- MAWN. 2016. Michigan Automated Weather Network. https://mawn.geo.msu.edu/. (Web accessed 2017).
- McCown, S., M. Brummer, S. Hayes, G. Olson, S.R. Smith, and L. Lawrence, L. 2012. Acceptability of teff hay by horses. J. Equine Vet. Sci. 32:327-331.
- McGraw, R.L., and G.C. Marten. 1986. Analysis of primary spring growth of four pasture legume species. Agron. J. 78:704–710.
- Mehlich, A. 1984. Mehlich 3 soil test extractant: A modification of Mehlich 2 extractant. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 15:1409-1416.
- Miller, D. 2009. Teff grass: a new alternative. Pp. 1-8. *In* Proceedings, 2009 California Alfalfa & Forage Symposium and Western Seed Conference, Reno, NV. Univ. California Cooperative Ext. Davis, CA.
- Monjardino, M., D.J. Pannell, and S.B. Powles. 2004. The economic value of pasture phases in the integrated management of annual ryegrass and wild radish in a Western Australian farming system. Anim. Prod. Sci. 44: 265-271.
- Monsanto. 2016. Monsanto corn varieties. http://www.monsanto.com/products/pages/default.aspx. (Web accessed 2017).

- Moore, J.E., M.H. Brant, W.E. Kunkle, and D.I. Hopkins. 1999. Effects of supplementation on voluntary forage intake, diet digestibility, and animal performance. J. Anim. Sci. 77: 122.
- MRTN. (2016). Maximizing corn return on corn nitrogen investments. http://msue.anr.msu.edu/news/maximizing_return_on_corn_nitrogen_investments. (Web accessed 2016).
- Murphy, S.D., Y. Yakubu, S.F. Weise, and C.J. Swanton. 1996. Effect of planting patterns and inter-row cultivation on competition between corn (*Zea mays*) and late emerging weeds. Weed Sci. 44:865-870.
- Mutch, D.L., T.E. Martin, and K.R. Kosola. 2003. Red clover (*Trifolium pratense*) suppression of common ragweed (*Ambrosia artemisiifolia*) in winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). Weed Technol. 17:181–185.
- NASS. 2012a. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012b. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Online_Resources/Ag_Atlas_Maps/Cr ops_and_Plants/Hay_and_Forage_Crops_Harvested/12-M200-RGBDot1-largetext.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012e. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_1_US/st99 _1_017_019.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012f. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_1_US/st99 _1_014_016.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- NASS. 2012g. United States Department of Agriculture Census of Agriculture. https://agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_1_US/st99 _1_014_016.pdf. (Web accessed 2016).
- Neild, R.E., J.E. Newman. 1987. Growing season characteristics and requirements in the Corn Belt. National corn handbook NCH-40. West Lafayette, Indiana, Purdue University, USA.
- NOAA. 2012. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. http://www.noaa.gov/weather. (Web accessed 2016).
- Otto, S., R. Masin, G. Casari, and G. Zanin. 2009. Weed–corn competition parameters in latewinter sowing in northern Italy. Weed Sci. 57: 194-201.

- Panachuki, E., I. Bertol, T. Alves Sobrinho, P.T. Sanches de Oliveira, and D.B.B. Bicca Rodrigues. 2011. Soil and water loss and water infiltration in red latosol under different management systems. Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo 35:1777–1785
- Pedersen, J.F., and J.J. Toy. 1997. Forage yield, quality, and fertility of sorghum× sudan grass hybrids in A1 and A3 cytoplasm. Crop Sci. 37:1973-1975.
- Peoples, M.B., D.F. Herridge, and J.K. Ladha. 1995. Biological nitrogen fixation: an efficient source of nitrogen for sustainable agricultural production?. Plant Soil. 174:3-28.
- Pfarr, D.G. 1988. Nitro: A nondormant alfalfa variety for maximum single year production. J. Prod. Agric. 1:182-183.
- Pimentel, D., C. Harvey, P. Resosudarmo, and K. Sinclair. 1995. Environmental and economic costs of soil erosion and conservation benefits. Science (Washington, DC). 267:1117-1123.
- Pinchak, W.E., W.D. Worrall, S.P. Caldwell, L.J. Hunt, N.J. Worrall, and M. Conoly. 1996. Interrelationships of forage and steer growth dynamics on wheat pasture. J. Range Manage. 49:126-130
- Poore, M.H., J.A. Moore, R.S. Swingle, T.P. Eck, and W.H. Brown. 1999. Wheat straw or alfalfa hay in diets with 30% neutral detergent fiber for lactating holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 74:3152-3159.
- Puget, P. and L. Drinkwater. 2001. Short-term dynamics of root and shoot-derived carbon from a leguminous green manure. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65:771–779.
- Putnam, A.R. and J. DeFrank. 1983. Use of phytotoxic plant residues for selective weed control. Crop Prot. 2:173–181
- Rajcan, I., and M. Tollenaar. 1999. Source: sink ratio and leaf senescence in maize: II. Nitrogen metabolism during grain filling. Field Crops Res. 60:255-265.
- Ralphs, M.H., D. Graham, M.L. Galyean, and L.F. James. 1997. Research observation: influence of overwintering feed regimen on consumption of locoweed by steers. J. Range Manage. 50:250-252.
- Redmon, L.A., G.W. Horn, E.G. Krenzer Jr., D.J. Bernardo. 1995. A review of livestock grazing and wheat grain yield: Boom or bust?. Agron. J. 87:137-147.
- Reeves, D.W. 1994. Cover crops and rotations. Advances in Soil Science: Crops Residue Management. Pp.125-172.

Robinson, R.G. 1969. Annual legume-grass mixtures for forage and seed. Agron. J. 61:759-761.

- Roldán, A., F. Caravaca, M.T. Hernández, C. Garcí, C. Sánchez-Brito, M. Velásquez, and M. Tiscareño. 2003. No-tillage, crop residue additions, and legume cover cropping effects on soil quality characteristics under maize in Patzcuaro watershed (Mexico). Soil and Tillage Research. 72:65-73.
- Roseberg, R.J., S. Norberg, J. Smith, B. Charlton, K. Rykbost, and C. Shock. 2006. Yield and quality of teff forage as a function of varying rates of applied irrigation and nitrogen. Research in the Klamath Basin 2005 Annual Report. OSU-AES Special Report. 1069:119-136.
- Rynk, R., M. van de Kamp, G.B. Willson, M.E. Singley, T.L. Richard, J.J. Kolega, F.R. Gouin,
 L. Laliberty, Jr., K. Day, D.W. Murphy, H.A.J. Hoitink, and W.F. Brinton. 1992. OnFarm Composting Handbook. NRAES, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York. pp.186
- Sainju, U.M., B.P. Singh, and S. Yaffa. 2002. Soil organic matter and tomato yield following tillage, cover cropping, and nitrogen fertilization. Agron. J. 94:594–602.
- Sainju, U.M., W.F. Whitehead, and B.P. Singh. 2005. Biculture legume–cereal cover crops for enhanced biomass yield and carbon and nitrogen. Agron. J. 97:1403–1412.
- Sanchez, J.E., T.C. Willson, K. Kizilkaya, E. Parker, and R.R. Harwood. 2001. Enhancing the mineralizable nitrogen pool through substrate diversity in long term cropping systems. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65:1442–1447.
- SARE. 2016. Stainable Agriculture Research and Education Cover Crop Survey Analysis. http://www.sare.org/Learning-Center/From-the-Field/North-Central-SARE-From-the-Field/2016-Cover-Crop-Survey-Analysis. (Web accessed 2016).
- Schmidt, M.W.I., Torn, M.S., Abiven, S., Dittmar, T., Guggenberger, G., Janssens, I.A., Kleber, M., KögelKnabner, I., Lehmann, J., Manning, D.A.C., Nannipieri, P., Rasse, D.P., Weiner, S., and Trumbore, S.E. 2011. Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property. Nature. 478:49–56.
- Sheaffer, C.C., D.K. Barnes, and G.H. Heichel. 1989. "Annual" alfalfa in crop rotations. Minnesota Agricultural Experimental Station Bulletin No. 5. University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA.
- Sheaffer, C.C., D.K. Barnes, D.D. Warnes, W.E. Lueschen, H.J. Ford, and D.R. Swanson. 1992. Seeding-year cutting affects winter survival and its association with fall growth score in alfalfa. Crop Sci. 32:225-231.
- Sheaffer, C.C., D.K. Barnes, G.H. Heichel, G.C. Marten, and W.E. Lueschen. 1988. Seeding year nitrogen and dry matter yields of nondormant and moderately dormant alfalfa. J. Prod. Agric. 1:261-265.

- Shilling, D.G., R.A. Liebl, and A.D. Worsham. 1985. Rye (Secale cereale L.) and wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) mulch: The suppression of certain broadleaved weeds and the isolation and identification of phytotoxins, p. 257–271. *In* A.C. Thompson (ed.). The chemistry of allelopathy: Biochemical interactions among plants. Amer. Chem. Soc. (Washington, D.C.).
- Smeda, R.J., and S.C. Weller. 1996. Potential of rye (Secale cereale) for weed management in transplant tomatoes (*Lycopersicon esculentum*). Weed Sci. 44:596-602.
- Smith, D.H. and M. Collins. 2003. Forbes. Pp. 215-238. *In* Barnes R.F. et al. (6th ed.) Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Vol. 1. Iowa State University Press. Ames, Iowa.
- Snapp, S.S., and D.R. Mutch. 2003. Cover crop choices for Michigan. Bull. E-2896. Michigan State Univ. Ext., East Lansing, Michigan, USA. Pp. 1-4.
- Snapp, S.S., J. Nyiraneza, and K. O'Neil. 2003. Organic inputs and a short rotation for improved potato productivity and cover crop and quality. p. 139–144. *In* Michigan Potato Res. Rep. Vol. 34. Michigan State Univ., Ext., in cooperation with The Michigan Potato Industry Commission, East Lansing, Michigan, USA.
- Snapp, S.S., S.M. Swinton, R. Labarta, D. Mutch, J.R. Black, R. Leep, J. Nyiraneza, and K. O'Neil. 2005. Evaluating cover crops for benefits, costs and performance within cropping system niches. Agron. J. 97:322-332.
- Staggenborg, S.A., D.A. Whitney, D.L. Fjell, and J.P. Shroyer. 2003. Seeding and nitrogen rates required to optimize winter wheat yields following grain sorghum and soybean. Agron. J. 95: 253-259.
- Stanhill, G. 1957. The effect of differences in soil-moisture status on plant growth: a review and analysis of soil moisture regime experiments. Soil Sci. 84:205-214.
- Stivers-Young, L.J. 1998. Growth, nitrogen accumulation, and weed suppression by fall cover crops following early harvest of vegetables. Hort. Sci. 33:60–63.
- Stivers-Young, L.J., and F.A. Tucker. 1999. Cover-cropping practices of vegetable producers in western New York. Hort. Technol. 9:459-465.
- Stone, M.L., J.B, Solie, W.R. Raun, R.W. Whitney, S.L. Taylor, and J.D. Ringer. 1996. Use of spectral radiance for correcting in-season fertilizer nitrogen deficiencies in winter wheat. Trans. ASAE. 39:1623-1632.
- Tanaka, D.L., A. Bauer, and A.L. Black. 1997. Annual legume cover crops in spring wheat-fallow systems. J. Prod. Agric. 10:251-255.
- Teasdale, J.R. 1996. Contribution of cover crops to weed management in sustainable agricultural systems. J. Prod. Agric. 9: 475-479.

- Teasdale, J.R., and C.S. Daughtry. 1993. Weed suppression by live and desiccated hairy vetch (*Vicia villosa*). Weed Sci. 44:207-212.
- Tisdall, J.M., and J.M. Oades. 1982. Organic matter and water-stable aggregates in soils. J. Soil Sci. 33:141–163
- Torbert, H.A., and D.W. Reeves. 1991. Benefits of a winter legume cover crop to corn: Rotation versus fixed-nitrogen effects. Pp. 99–100. *In* W.L. Hargrove (ed.). Cover crops for clean water. Soil Water Conserv. Soc. Jackson, Tennessee, USA.
- Tulema, B., J.B. Aune, F.H. Johnsen, and B. Vanlauwe. 2008. The prospects of reduced tillage in tef (*Eragrostis tef Zucca*) in Gare Arera, West Shawa Zone of Oromiya, Ethiopia. Soil Tillage Res. 99:58-65.
- Tursun, N., A. Datta, M.S. Sakinmaz, Z. Kantarci, S.Z. Knezevic, and B.S. Chauhan. 2016. The critical period for weed control in three corn (*Zea mays* L.) types. Crop Prot. 90:59-65.
- Tyler, D.D., B.N. Duck, J.G. Graveel, and J.F. Bowen, J. F. 1987. Estimating response curves of legume nitrogen contribution to no-till corn. *In* J.F. Power (ed.). The role of legumes in conservation tillage systems. Proceeding Natl. Conf. Athens, Georgia. April 27-29, 1987. ed. Soil Water Conserv. Soc. Ankeny, Iowa, USA.
- Unger, P.W. 1975. Role of mulches in dryland agriculture. Pp. 240-258. *In* U.S. Gupta (ed.). Physiological Aspects of Dryland Farming. Oxford and IBH Publishing Co., New Delhi, India.
- US Drought Monitor. 2016. http://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/Home/StateDroughtMonitor.aspx?MI (Web accessed 2016).
- Utomo, M., W.W. Frye, and R.L. Blevins. 1990. Sustaining soil nitrogen for corn using hairy vetch cover crop. Agron. J. 82:979-983.
- Valenti, S.A., and G.A. Wicks. 1992. Influence of nitrogen rates and wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cultivars on weed control. Weed Sci. 115-121.
- Van Heemst, H. D. J. 1985. The influence of weed competition on crop yield. Agric. Syst. 18:81-93.
- Van Soest, P.J., and J.B. Robertson. 1980. Systems of analysis for evaluation of fibrous feeds.
 P.49-60. *In* W.G. Pigden et. al. (ed.) Standardization of analytical methodology for feeds.
 Publication IDRC-134e. International Research Development Center, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- Veihmeyer, F.J., and A.H. Hendrickson. 1950. Soil moisture in relation to plant growth. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 1:285-304.

- Vyn, T.Y., J.G. Faber, K.J. Janovicek, and E.G. Beauchamp. 2000. Cover crop effects on nitrogen availability to corn following wheat. Agron. J. 92: 915- 924.
- Vyn, T.Y., K.J. Janovicek, M.H. Miller, and E.G. Beauchamp. 1999. Soil nitrate accumulation and corn response to preceding small-grain fertilization and cover crops. Agron. J. 91:17– 24
- Walkley, A., and I.A. Black. 1934. An examination of the Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter, and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. Soil Sci. 37:29-38.
- Wang, P., C.M. Changa, M.E. Watson, W.A. Dick, Y. Chen, and H.AJ. Hoitink. 2004. Maturity indices for composted dairy and pig manures. Soil Biol. Biochem. 36:767-776.
- Warncke, D., J. Dahl, and L. Jacobs. 2009. Nutrient recommendations for field crops in Michigan. Bull. E-2904. Michigan State Univ. Ext., East Lansing, Michigan, USA. Pp. 1-36
- Weil, R.R., K.R. Islam, M.A. Stine, J.B. Gruver, and S.E. Samson-Liebig. 2003. Estimating active carbon for soil quality assessment: A simplified method for laboratory and field use. Am. J. of Alt. Agric. 18:3-17.
- Wilhelm, W.W., J.M. Johnson, D.L. Karlen, and D.T. Lightle. 2007. Corn stover to sustain soil organic carbon further constrains biomass supply. Agron. J. 99:1665-1667.
- Worsham, A.D. 1991. Role of cover crops in weed management and water quality. Pp. 141–145. In W.L. Hargrove (ed.). Cover crops for clean water. Soil Water Conserv. Soc. Ankeny, Iowa, USA.
- Wortman, S.E., C.A. Francis, M.L. Bernards, R.A. Drijber, and J.L. Lindquist. 2012. Optimizing cover crop benefits with diverse mixtures and an alternative termination method. Agron. J. 104:1425-1435.
- Young, A., E. Creech, D. ZoBell, C. Israelsen, and J. Eun. 2014. Integrating teff into livestock operations. Utah State Univ. Ext., Paper 626. Logan, Utah, USA. Pp. 1-3.
- Yun, L., D.W. Koch, F.A. Gray, D.W. Sanson, and W.J. Means. 1999. Potential of trap-crop radish for fall lamb grazing. J. Prod. Agric. 12:559-563.
- Zemenchik, R.A., K.A. Albrecht, C.M. Boerboom, and J.G. Lauer. 2000. Corn production with kura clover as a living mulch. Agron. J. 92:698-703
- Zibilske, L.M., J.M. Bradford and J.R. Smart. 2002. Conservation tillage induced changes in organic carbon, total nitrogen and available phosphorus in a semi-arid alkaline subtropical soil. Soil Till. Res. 66:153–163.